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A & J Mucklow Group was founded in the West Midlands in 1933

and histed on the London Stock Exchange in 1962 Its principal activity Is

1o develop and invest In modern industrial and commercial bulldings in

prominent locations around the Midlands

The Group’s main objective Is the long-term enhancement of shareholder

value through dividend and capital appreciation
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Notes

Financial Highlights

m Profit before tax of £334m (2006: £36 4m)
m Earnings per share 86 62p (2006: 45 24p)
m Ordinary dividend per share!" up 74%

to 1473p (2006: 13 71p)
m Adjusted net asset value per share?

up 32% at 445p (2006: 431p)
m Net assets £2593m (2006: £215 7m}

m Year end gearing (net of cash) 7% (2006: 3%)

Recommended final dwidend of 8 04p (2006 7 48p), making the total for the year ended
30 June 2007 14 73p {2006 13 71p)

EPRA {European Public Real Estate Association) net asset value excluding deferred tax
and including the surptus on trading properues and the mark to market of debenture stock

see note 9 for detaills
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Chairman’s Statement

| am pleased to report another strong performance by
the Group and excellent progress made during the year
towards refocusing our business, in readiness for
conversion 10 a Real Estate Investment Trust ("REIT")
on 1 July 2007

Pre-tax profit for the year ended 30 June 2007 was
£334m, compared with £36 4m for the corresponding
period last year The adjusted pre-tax profit™, excluding
gains on the revaluation of the property portfolio, profit
on the sale of investment properties and the premium
paid on the redemption of debenture stock was £12 7m

(2006 £12 O0m;)

Shareholders’ funds ncreased from £2157m to
£259 3m as at 30 June 2007 Borrowings net of cash
amounted to £17 6m (2006 £6 8m), representing 7% of
Shareholders’ funds The EPRA# net asset value per
share, which includes the surplus in the value of trading
properties, rose from 431p to 445p per sharet

The Board 15 recommending the payment ¢of a final
dividend of 8 04p per Ordinary share, making a total
for the year of 14 73p per share, an increase of 7 4%
over last year's total of 13 71p per share If approved by
Sharehoiders, the dividend will be pad on
31 December 2007, to Shareholders on the register at
the close of business on 30 November 2007

The Group elected tc become a REIT with effect from
1 July 2007, following Shareholder approval to amend
the Articles of Association at an EGM on 23 May 2007
The anticipated cost of conversion 1s £5 9m, based on
2% of the value of the investment and development
properties at our year end (€5 7m) and professional fees
(£0 2m) incurred, which has been reserved In the
accounts, reducing our net asset value per share by 10p

Also included in these accounts Is 2 net centribution of
£31 4m to Shareholders’ funds, from the write-back of our
deferred tax lability, amounting to 52p per share In future,
the Group will no longer pay corporation tax on gqualifying
rental income, or gains from the disposal of investment
properties, providing 90% of 1its income profits are
distributed as dividends to Shareholders and certain other
conditions are met The tax savings should sllow us to
increase the Ordinary dividend by around 20% next year
The first REIT dividend will be paid in June 2008

Property Review

The last 12 months have been an exciting peniod for the
Group We have acgured a further 29 acres of
commercial land and increased the development
programme We have atso bought for cancellation the
majonty of our high coupen debt and sold a large tranche
of cur trading stock

At the same tme, we have continued to actively
manage our investment portfolio, to enhance property
values and have pursued a number of strategic

(o] +
investmoent agguisitions and dispes

benefit us In the future

posals, which should

Our core investment portfolio has continued to perform
well Most of our properties are modern, In pnme
locations and provide steady rental and capital growth
Occupancy levels have been maintained at around 94 %,
while additional rent from reviews and lease renewals
has increased annual rental income by £0 4m (2 7%)
Investment acquisitions and new developments added
£0 9m to the rent-roll, while disposals reduced 1t by
£0 7m

As reported at the intenm stage, we sold our Wates Way
Industnal Estate, Mitcham, Surrey, in September 2006
for £13 8m and obtained cutline planning consent for a
large mixed use development, on the site of our Bull Ring
Trading Estate, Birmingham We also acquired a
prominent Investment property during the year, close to
the Bull Ring Trading Estate, for £6 4m The property
currently produces a rent of £400,000 per annum and
offers long term redevelopment potentiat

Construction has started on three new speculative
developments at Worcester {28,000 sq ft offices}, Dudley
{41,000 sq ft industnal) and Wednesbury {40,000 sq ft
industrial), with completions due between December
2007 and February 2008 When the buildings are fully let,
they are forecast to add £0 9m per annum of rental
income The anticipated cost of the current development
programme 15 £10m The completed end value 15
estimated to be around £13 7m One of the benefits of
being a REIT, 15 that no capital gains tax will be payable by
the Group on the disposal of investment properties,
providing the properties are held for a minimum period of
three years




Our commercial land bank now extends to over 50 acres,
with potential to develop In excess of 1m sq ft of new
business space We are currently marketing a number of
sites for pre-let buildings and intend to maintain a rolling
development programme of speculative units, where
occupier demand (s strong

DTZ Debenham Tie Leung valued our investment
properties at 30 June 2007 The investrment portfotio,
which includes commercial land and new developments
under construction, was valued at £288 3m {2006
£258 7m} leading to a revalughon increase of £16 6m
(2006 £28 2m) for the year (6 0%)

As a REIT, we will focus on the development and long-term
Investment of commercial and industnial property, mainly
around our traditional area of the Midlands We shall be
restricted on the amount of profit that can be generated
from trading activites As a consequence, we decided to
reduce the level of our trading stock during the year, selling
11 acres of residentia! land, for £10 7m, which produced a
trading profit of £10 2m Since the year end, we have sold
a further 2 3 acres of residential land for £2 6m

DTZ Debenham Tie Leung also valued our trading
properties as at 30 June 2007 The majonty of trading
properties comprise land with planming permission for
residential use The trading properties were valued at
£10 0m (2006 £18 9m), which showed a surplus over
book value of £9 Om, equivalent to 15p per share

In the first half of the year, we bought in for cancellation
£11 7m of our 11 5% First Mortgage Debenture Stock, at
a cost of £16 6m The debt was due to mature in 2014
and the interest savingis £1 3m per annum The premium
paid to redeem the debenture stock early was £4 9m
(E3 5m posi-tax), which reduced our net asset value per
share by 6p There remains £4 2m of the onginal £60m
debenture 1ssue outstanding

Board Changes

On 1 March 2007 we welcomed Paul Ludlow FRICS as a
non-executive drrector Paul was previously Managing
Director of Severn Trent Properties and has considerable
expenence and knowledge of the Midlands property
market On 30 June 2007, Peter Petherbridge {60) retired as
an executive director and on 1 July 2007 David Wooldndge
(35) FCCA ACIS was appointed to the Main Board

Peter Petherbridge joined the Company in 1974 as Group
Solicitor and became a director in 1990 Peter has made a
valuable contribution towards the success of the business
over the last 33 years and we wish him well in his
retirement The Group's legal property work will now be
carned out by Messrs Wragge & Co Peter will remain as
a consultant for a penod of 12 months

| am dehghted that Dawid Woaoldndge has been
promoted to the Board as Finance Director David joined
us as an Accountant in 1996 and was appointed to the
posttion of Company Secratary i 2002

Since the year end, David Groom (68) has notfied the
Board that he will not be seeking re-election as a non-
executive director at this year's AGM and will retire from
the Board on 31 Qctober 2007 | have had the pleasure
of working closely with David over the last eleven years,
first as Managing Director, then as Chairman, and would
like to thank him for his wise counsel and commitment
to the Group

Outlook

After a couple of years of exceptional growth in capital
values, there are signs that higher interest rates and a
change in Investor sentiment are slowing the property
market and providing moere modest returns for [nvestors
Over the next 12 months we expect a widening of the
yielkd gap between prime and secondary properties
However, we do not anticipate any sigmnsficant correction in
the value of our modern investment portfolio and remain
positive about continuing to grow the business

Qur low geanng and new REIT status will prowide
us with opporiunities to capitalise on any potential
slowdown in the market, and our selective development
programme should gontinue to generate additional

revenue

Rupert J Mucklo
Chairman
28 September 2007

* See note 9 for the adjustments
# European Public Real Estate Associaticn
T See note 9 for the calculations




Property and Financial Review

2006/07 was another year of reorganisation withuin the
Group Against the background of a strong financial
perforrmance, we have continued to shape our business
in preparation for becoming a REIT with effect from
1 July 2007

Strategy

Our long-term objective remains focused on accumulaing
a quality portfolic of modern, income producing properties,
with potential for long-term rental and capital growth The

5 ot e
three main aress of our stiategy are

8 Selectively acquinng and disposing of investment
properties

EW Developing new propertes for long-term investment
B Actively managing our assets to enhance value

Whilst asset management IS an ongoing process, we
are continually monitoring the property market for
investment and development opportunities and adapting
our short-term strategy accordingly

Investment

We are now concentrating our market focus on the
Midlands Region, where the fundamental ecenomic and
property drivers remain strong It 15 this inherent
specialisation and focus of the Group's existing portfolio
that will position us well to take full advantage of the
REIT status As a part of this realignment of assets we
have, during the year, taken advantage of the strength of
the invesiment market to dispose of an industria! estate
in Mitcham, Surrey for £138m  This disposal
contributed £2 2m to profit before tax and was sold on
avyeld of 5 256%

We purchased one investment property dunng the year
for £5 4m, producing a rent of £400,000 per annum
The property occupies a prominent site of 4 acres on
Digbeth High Street, Birmtngham, ctose to our Bull Ring
Tradng Estate and offers excellent long-term
redevelopment potential

Since the year end, we have acguired a modern 48,000
sq ft industnal iInvestment, in Leamington Spa for £3 7m
The property has recently been let at a rent of £252,500
per annum and offers good growth prospects

We remain ever mindful of the evalving property market
It seems clear that the downward yield shift that has so
typified the investment market over recent years has
slowed to such an extent that it could be argued that
this extraordinary penod of growth in UK commercial
property values has now run its course We regard this
slowdown as a clear opportunity to use our strong
financia! position to acquire prime Investment
properties, or properties with long-term redevelopment
potential

Development

Even though the investment market 1s showing signs of
cooling down, occupier demand rematns strong for
quality, well-located modern business space It 15
through our ongoing development programme that we
continue to capitalise on this demand to increase the
value of our property portfolio and rental income stream,
therefore enabling us to continue our progressive
dividend policy

The cornmercial land bank for future developments has
continued to grow We now have 50 acres of land in
seven different locations, 29 acres having been acquired
during the year All sites are being actively marketed for
pre-lets We are currently working through the planning
process on the latest land acquisitions and started new
developments and major refurbishments in Dudley,
Worcester, Wednesbury and Coleshill

Our cuirent development programme comprises four
industnial units totallng 81,000 sq ft and four office
bulldings with a combined area of 28,000 sq ft We also
have 32,000 sg ft of industrial property being
substantially refurbished to create a trade park When
completed and let, the properties should contnbute In
excess of £1 1m to the annual rent-roll




A& Mucklow Group plc

Property and Financial Review

CURRENT DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME

Area Unit sizes
Property sq ft Acreage ERV £ pa Complete Units {sq ft)
Industrial
Yorks Park, Dudiey {phase 1} 41,000 25 200,000 Dec 07 2 18,000/23,000
Wednesbury One,
Wednesbury 40,000 22 210,000 Feb 08 2 2 x 20,000
Trade Park
Coleshill Trade Park, Coleshill 32,000 22 260 000 Mav 08 11 3,300-3 600
Office
Apex Court, Worcester {phase 1) 28,000 15 450,000 Dec 07 4 4,500-13,000
Total 141,000 84 1,120,000 19

Two additicnal sites were acquired duning the year, in
Tyseley, Birmingham and Tornngton Avenue, Coventry

In September 2006 we acquired a strategic 20 acre site
in the established Tyseley industnal area, three miles
south east of Birmingham City Centre for £8 9m Quthine
planming consent for 360,000 sq ft of
industnalfwarehouse space has recently been approved
and demolition of the existing bulldings commenced

We also acquired 9 acres of prime development land at
Tornngton Avenue, Coventry in November 2006 for
f48m The siie has potential for a number of
commercial uses

Asset Management

Proactive property asset management remams a
fundamental key to the Group’s present and future
strategy As a result of our robust approach to this
management aspect we have drniven additional valug in
terms of both rental and capital growth The portfoho
continues to perform well and our customer facing
approach has resulted in a high occupancy rate of our
buildings, reflecting a 94% occupancy level Lease

renewals and additional rent from reviews accounted for
an increase in income of 2 7% {£0 4m}

Dunng the year we obtained cutline planning consent
for a 500,000 sq ft mixed use scheme on the site of our
existing Bull Ring Trading Estate, as mentioned at the
interim stage

Our investment portfolic was valued by DTZ Debenham
Tie Leung as at 30 June 2007 The properties were valued
at £288 3m, to show an increase of £16 5m {6%) over
closing book value The planning enhancement for Bull
Ring Trading Estate added £3 9m, the remainder of the
gain was spread across the portfolio, mainly reflecting
Improvements In rent and occupancy levels

The net equivalent yield on our investment portfolio,
excluding development land, was 6 0% at the year end
Industnal property was valued on a yield of 6 1%, offices
on 6 2% and retaill on 5 2% The average rent for the
Midland industrial properties was £4 53 per square foot
(psf), offices £14 05 psf and retall £8 68 psf The
estimated rental value for the portfolio s currently £1 9m
higher than the passing rent
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Property and Financial Review

Trading properties

We disposed of half of our trading properties by value
during the vear, shead of converting to a REIT
Residential land in Wigan, Lancashire and Tipton, West
Midlands was sold for a profit of £10 2m The proceeds
have been reinvested into our commercial development
programme, where we can add capital value and create
rental income

DTZ Debenhamn Tie Leung valued our remaining trading
properties as at 30 June 2007 The value was £10 Om
Since the year end, we have realised £2 6m from the

disposal of residential land

Financial performance

Rental income from investment properties remamned
unchanged at £14 3m, with rental income from
properties disposed being offset by investment
acquisitions, completed developments and asset
management As mentioned above, we have disposed
of a significant amount of our trading properties,
Increasing the net income from trading properties from
£23mto £10 2m

Adrministration expenses are sigmficantly higher than the
previous year, mamnly due to the professional fees
incurred for REIT conversion and the termination of
Peter Petherbridge’s directorship

Profits on the disposal of investment properties were
also higher, at £2 2m compared to £0 7m in 2006 As

mentioned above, this relates to the disposal of our
Wates Way Trading Estate

Net gains an the revaluation of the investment and
developments of £16 3m (2006 £23 7m) were reflected
in the Income statermnent

Our financing costs reflect the redemption of £11 7m of
our 11 5% First Mortgage Debenture Stock 2014, at a
cost of £16 6m, leading 1o a premium of £4 9m  After
tax relief the net cost of redemption 1s £3 5m This
redemption was funded out of our existing banking
facihties To increase our avalability of financal
resources we have taken out a further £20m revolving
credit facility with HSBC Bank plc, of which £14m was
utiised at 30 June 2007

Interest costs of £05m (2006 £nil) have been
capitalised to development properties, reducing the
interest charge to the income statement

We intend to seek approval from Shareholders for the
Board to 1ssue new Crdinary shares Further details are
included Iin the circular to shareholders to be released
shortly The Board only intends to raise funds from a share
issue where it would increase net asset value per share

Profit before tax reduced from £36 4m to £33 4m,
reflecting the above

A tax credit of £18 6m (2006 charge £9 3m} has been
recognised In the income statement, which 1s broken
down as follows

TAX (CREDIT)/CHARGE IN THE INCOME STATEMENT

2007 2006

£000 £000

Current tax — on income profits 4,154 2,998
— on property disposals 2,340 621

6,494 3,619

Current tax — REIT conversion charge 5,736 —
Total current tax 12,230 3,619
Deferred tax — charge for year 579 5,671
— released on REIT conversion (31,409) —

(30,830) 5671

Total tax {crediti/charge {18,600) 9,290
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ANALYSIS OF BORROWINGS AT 30 JUNE

2007 2006

€000 £000
11 5% First Mortgage Bebenture Stock 2014 4,203 15,903
Preference Share Capital 675 675
Cash and Short-Term Deposits (1,252} (9,767)
Borrowings from revolving credit facility 14,000 —
Net Debt and Preference Share Capital 17,626 6,811
Net Assets 259,292 215672
Gearning (net of cash) 7% 3%

We have stated our net asset value and earnings per
share figures on an EPRA basis for the first tme This
has been done to adopt the market definition for these
numbers

For net asset value this has resulted in us taking Into
account the far value adjustment of our debenture
stock, reducing net asset value by 2p per share in 2007
and 10p in 2006

We have included three earmings per share (eps) figures
in the report and accounts the income statement
{unadjusted) eps, EPRA eps, and adusted eps The
adjusted eps s the EPRA eps after removing the effect of
the redemption of the debenture stock The Board
considers that the adjusted eps 1s a good benchmark for
the underlying performance of the Group

Calculations for net asset value and earnings per share
are shown In note 9 {o the accounts

Outlook

The Group has had an excellent year in terms of both
financial performance and the repositioning of the
business n readiness for its entry in to the REIT
structure Qur quality investment portfolio and strong
financial position provide the perfect platform from
which 1o grow the business through our mamn inbatives
of selective investment, controlled development and
proactive asset management

This strategy soundly supports the Group’s mamn
objective of providing Shareholders with [ong-term
stability whilst seeking to maximise growth in earnings,
dividends and net asset value

We are confident with our approach and feel extremely
positive about the future

Justin Parker
Managing Director
28 September 2007
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Property Investment Portfolio

SUMMARY OF INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO AS AT 30 JUNE 2007

Let Space Vacant Space Total

sq ft sq ft sq ft

Industnal 2,264,605 161,578 2,426,183
Office 169,596 11,859 181,455
Retall 171,540 — 171,540
2,605,741 173,437 2779178

CURRENT AND ESTIMATED RENTAL VALUE {ERV — REVERSIONS AND VOID LETTINGS)

Current rent ERV Capital value
£m pa £m pa E£m
Industrial 1100 12 45 185 25
Office 255 283 41 84
Retall 149 162 2774
1504 16 80 254 83
Land/Development 3343
288 26

AVERAGE RENT PER SQ FT (PSF)
Current rent ERV Upside
Epsf Epsf %
Industnal 453 513 +132
Office 14 05 15 60 +110
Retall 868 944 +87
b 41 608 +12 4

AVERAGE INCOME RETURNS FROM INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (NET)

Iniual Yield Reversion Yield Equivalent Yield

% % %

Industrial 56 64 61
Office 58 64 62
Retall 51 55 52
56 63 60




Principal properties at 30 June 2007

Industrial

Bewdley Road, Stirchley, Birmingham

Birchley Island, Cldbury

Bull Ring Trading Estate, Birmingham

Camp Hill, Birrmingham

Coleshill Trading Estate, Birrmingham
Cromptan Fields, Crawley, West Sussex
Enterprnise Trading Estate, Dudley

Forward Park Trading Estate, Birmingham
Golden Cross, Aston, Birmingham

Hazelwell Mills Trading Estate, Strchley

Kings Hill Business Park, Wednesbury
Krightsbridge Park, Worcester

Long Acre Trading Estate, Birrmingham
Mucklow Hill Trading Estate, Halesowen
Redfern Industnal Park, Tyseley, Birmingham
Roman Park, Coleshill

Shenstone Trading Estate, Halesowen

St Andrews Trading Estate, Birmingham

Star Gate, Birmingham

Stratton Business Park, Biggleswade, Bedfordshire
Tachbrook Link, Leamington Spa

Tewkesbury Road, Cheltenham

Triton Park, Rugby

Wednesbury One, Wednesbury

Offices

Apex House, Apex 6 Business Park, Worcester
Century House, Apex 6 Business Park, Worcester
Concorde House, Trinity Park, Solihull

Dukes Gate, Chiswick, London

Mucklow Office Park, Mucklow Hill, Halesowen
Osk Tree Court, Binley Business Park, Coveniry
309 Reading Road, Henley-on-Thames, Oxon
60 Whitehall Road, Halesowen

Retail

Birchley Island, Oldbury

131/148 High Street, Bordesley

202-208 High Street, Harborne

64/67 High Street, Stourbnidge

Prospect Way, Halesowen

Tewkesbury Road, Cheltenham

Area
sq ft
54,220
41,634
69,054
124,270
232,898
160,551
175,813
77,102
b4,872
76,722
96,189
124,420
48,145
62,392
97,265
41,499
84,916
168,621
29,705
87.314
34,359
85,312
59,021
77,698
132,439

18,606
23,061
24125
17,855
34,703
30,000
12121
21,233

56,181
12,000
24,681
33,482
32,000
12,196

13
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Directors and Officers

Directors

Rupert J Mucklow &s:

Chatrmant Aged 44

Joined the Group in 1890 Appointed executive director 1995,
Managing Director 1996, Deputy Charrman 2001 and Executive
Chairman 2004

D Justin Parker Bsc MRICS
Managing Director Aged 42

Joined the Group as Managing Director in January 2004
Previously National Head of Investment at DTZ Debenham  Tie
Leung

Honorary President
Albert J Mucklow acis

Company Secretary
David Wooldridge rccaacis

David Wooldridge rccaacis
Finance Director Aged 35

Joined the Group in 1996 Appointed Company Secretary in
2002 and Finance Director on 1 July 2007

Dawvid F Austin rrics

Semor Independent Non-Executive*t+ Aged 68
Appointed to the Board 1995 A chartered surveyor and former
jeint senior partner of Bucknall Austin Chairman of the Audit
and Remuneration Commitiees

David C Groom rcis
Independent Non-Executrve*t¥ Aged 68

Appointed to the Board 1996 A former regional area manager
of Midland Bank in Birmingham

Paul A Ludlow rrics

Independent Non-Executive *1+ Aged 61

Appomnted to the Board in 2007 A former Managing Director of
Severn Trent Praperty Ltd until the recent sale of the business
to Prologis

* Member of the Remuneration Committee
t Member of the Audit Committee
# Member of the Nomination Committee




Senior Management and Professional Advisers

Senior Management

Jesse S J Stokes MRICS
Development

M Dawvid Folkes mMcCiOB
Residential Land/Development

Dawvid Rampling
Estate Management/Property Leasing

Dawid J Tuft
Property Manager

Registered Office
60 Whitehall Road, Halesowen
West Midlands, B63 3JS

Tel (0121) 550 1841 Fax (0121) 550 7532
Website www mucklow com
Company No 7178658

Auditors

Deloitte & Touche LLP
Four Brindteyplace
Birmingham, B1 2HZ

UBS Limrted
1 Finsbury Avenue
London, EC2ZM 2PP

Arden Partners plc
Arden House, Highfield
Road, Edgbaston
Birmingham B15 3DU

Bankers

HSBC Bank plc

8th Floor

Exchange Bulldings
8 Stephenson Place
Birrrungham, B2 4NH

HBOS plc
55 Termple Row
Birmingham, B2 6LS

Corporate Advisers
UBS Limited

2 Finsbury Avenue
London, EC2M 2PP

Property Valuers

DTZ Debenham Tie Leung
No 1 Colmore Square
Birmingham, B4 6AJ

Registrars
Capita Registrars
The Registry

34 Beckenham Road
Beckenham

Kent, BR3 4TU

Solicitors
Wragge & Co LLP
55 Colmare Row
Birmingham B3 2AS

Slaughter and May
One Bunhill Row
London, EC1Y 8YY
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Directors’ Report

The directors present their annual report and audited
accounts for the year ended 30 June 2007

Principal activities
The principal activities of the Group are industrial and
commercial property investment and development

Results
The profit earned and the dividends paid and proposed
are set out in detal in the consolidated income
statement and notes The net profit betore taaation for
the year was £33 4m and the taxation credit was
£18 6m

Key Performance Indicators

Review of business

Detalls of the Group's activities and a review of the
business are set cut In the Chairman’s Statement and
Property and Financial Review on pages 2 to 10

Detaills of the Key Performance Indicators regarding the
revaluation surpluses, rental income on the retaned
portfolio and vacant space, used by the directors to assist
n the management of tha business and to provide
evidence of the achievement of its strateges, are
included In the property review section of the Chairman’s
Statement, the asset management and trading properties
sections of the Property and Financial Review and in the
table below

2007 2006
Revaluation surplus
— Income statement {£000s) 16,322 23,739
— Statement of recognised income and expense (£000s) 167 4,415
Rental income on the retained portfoho (EQ00s) 14,031 13,659
Vacant space (%) 6 7

Key risk areas for the Group

Risk area

Investment portfolio

B Tenant default

B Change in demand for space
W Market pricing affecting value

Mitigation

B Portfolio diversification between ndustrial,
office and retall properties with different tenant
profiles, covenants, bullding sizes and lease
lengths

B Building specificattons not talored to one user

B Not reliant on one single tenant or business
sector

B Focused on established business locations for
Investment acquisitions and developments

B Continual focus on current vacancies and
expected changes




Risk area

Development

B Speculative development exposure on lettings
B Cost/uime delays on contracts

B [nability to acquire land

B Holding too much development land

Mitigation

B Limiting exposure to speculative development

B Buldings designed to be suitable for a range of
tenants

B Speculative development is focused on small to
medium sized occupiers in well established
business locations

B Use of main contraciors on fixed pnce contracts,
with contingencies built into appraisals

B The man board careiully consider all
development land acquisitions to ensure
exposure I1s hmited to reasonable levels and that
prices paid are realistic

Financial

B Reduced avallability or increased cost of debt
finance

B REIT complance

B Low gearing policy

B Large, wunencumbered property portiolic
available as secunty

B Existing facihities sufficent for spending
commitments

B Internal procedures in place to track compliance

People
M Retention/recruitment

Ordinary dividends

On 29 June 2007, an intenm dividend of 6 69p per share
was paid A final dividend of B 04p per share s
proposed The total dividend for the year will be 14 73p
per share

The final dividend, If confirmed, wili be pad on
31 December 2007 to shareholders on the register at
the close of business on 30 November 2007

Key man insurance
Remuneration structure reviewed
Regular assessment of performance

Employee share ownership scheme

On 25 October 2002 the Company adopted the A & J
Mucklow Group plc Share Incentive Plan This 1s an
Inland Revenue approved share scheme, under which
all employees of the Group with a munimum penod
of service of 6 months prnior to the start of an
accumulation period are eligible to participate The Inland
Revenue allows monthly employee contributions of
£125 (or 10% of salary if lower} Under the scheme an

17
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employee can buy Partnership shares from ther
monthly pre-tax salary up to an initial maximum of the
lower of £125 or 3% of salary The Company has agreed
to match each share purchased by the employee on the
basis of one for one An allocation of free shares can
also be made under the scheme up to a imit of £3,000
per employee The amount, if any, of free shares
allocated will be decided upon annually by the
Rermuneration Committee

The first annual accumulation penod began on
29 November 2002 Dunng the year 13,408 {2006
16,025} Ordinary shares were purchased, including
5,962 (2006 6,755} free shares, at a cost to the Group
of £52,432 (2006 £50,610} The allocation of shares was
not subject to performance critena

Future prospects
The future prospects are commented on In the
Charrman’s Statement on page 3

Creditors’ payment policy

The Group seeks the best possible terms from suppliers
appropriate to Its business and, in placing orders, gives
consideration to quality, prnice and terms of payment
which will be agreed with suppliers when the details of
each transaction are settled The Group will continue to
honour 1ts contractual and other legal obligations and to
pay creditors on the dates agreed in contracis and
purchase orders

The average number of creditor days for the Group was
10 {2006 37} The average number of creditor days for
the Company was 2 (n 2006 the Company had no trade
creditors The creditor days figure 1s significantly
affected by property acquisitions and  simifar
transactions

Environmental and social policy

The Group has an environmental and social policy
addressing the importance of those 1ssues in the day-
to-day running of the business, which is detalled below

Business activities

The Group's principal activity 1s to develop and invest in
commercial and industnal properties n prominent
locations, with a bias towards the Midlands Our main
objective Is the long-term enhancement of shareholder
value through dvidend and capital appreciation

Group structure
A & J Mucklow Group plc has seven main subsidianes
for property development and investment

Aii of the Group s properties are wholly owned

Properties let to a single tenant are tenant managed, and
pertfolio managers at A & J Mucklow Group plc monitor
the management of the sites regularly

On multi-let properties the day-to-day management 1s
outsourced to managing agents, who report to portfolio
managers at A & J Mucklow Group plc

Environmental policy
There are five main areas of the environmental policy

H Anindependent environmental report s required for
all potental acquisitions, which considers, amongst
other matters, the historic and current usage of the
site and the extent of any contamination present

B Consideration 15 given In the design process of
development and refurbishment projects to the
choice of matenals used to avaid the use of
matenals that are hazardous to health or damaging
to the environment

B An ongoing examination of the business activities
of existing and new tenants 1s carried out to prevent
pollution rnisks occuinng The Group montors all
incoming tenants through 11s INsurance programme
to dentify potential nsk, and high-nsk business
actiwiies are avoided As part of the active
management of the portfolio any change In tenant
business practice considered to be an
environmental hazard s reported and suitably dealt
with



B All sites are visited at least annually and any obvious
environmental iIssues are reported to the Board

B All leases prepared after the adoption of the policy
will commit occupiers to observe any environmental
regulations

During the year, third party consultants were appointed
to carry out envirgnmental reviews of our industnal
portfolio The process I1s ongoing and tt ts intended to be
extended over the whole portfolio

We are also improving the enwironmental performance
of our development properties At Wednesbury One,
BREEAM {Building Research Establishment
Environmental Assessment Method) 1s being used to
assess the 1mpact of the scheme, with the aim of
secunng a 'Very Good' ratng as a mimimum [t 1s
intended that the expenence gained during the project at
Woednesbury One will be used to mprove the
environmental performance of other schemes within the
portfolio, which will also be assessed using BREEAM

Any problems are referred to the Managing Director
immediately and the Board of Directors at the next
Board meeting

Social policy
The actwities of the Group are carned out In a
respensible manner, taking into account the social
impact The two main areas of social impact have been
dentified as plannng and  developments/
refurbishments

Planning

The Group considers the impact on the surrounding
areas and communities where planning permissions are
to be submitted and considers the legitmate concerns
of interested parties as part of the process

Developments and refurbishments

Development and refurbishment projects are
subcontracted The Group monitors the works, directly
and In conjuncucn with project managers on larger

projects, to ensure they are carried out In accordance
with relevant guidelines and laws All subcontractors are
assessed to ensure that they have sufficient resources
to meet legal requirements

Head office and administration
The Group moved head offices in 2006 and a health and
safety review was carned out

We have introduced procedures to reduce the waste
produced by the Group, mcluding ncentives for
company car dnvers to muve 1o more CG, efficent
vehicles and reducing the volume of paper used

Review and responsibility

The Social and Environmental policy, which apples to all
companies in the Group, will be reviewed annually as
part of the Group's Turnbull Committee meetings
Rupert Mucklow has main Board responsibility for social
and environmental 1ssues Responsibility for health and
safety, equal opportunities and business ethics i1s given
to the whole Board

Donations
No political contributions were made dunng the year and
donations to charties amounted to £2,150 {2006 £2,863)

Directors

The present Board Is as shown on page 14 Paul Ludlow
was appointed as a director on 1 March 2007 and David
Wooldndge was appointed on 1 July 2007

Dawid Wooldndge {(Finance Director}, Dawvid Austn {non-
executive director) and Paul Ludlow {non-executive
director) retire by rotation and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-glection

The three executive directors, Rupert J Mucklow, Justin
Parker and David Wocldridge, have cne-year rolling
service contracts with the Group Non-executive
directors do not have service contracts
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Directors’ shareholdings

Particulars of the directors’ shareholdings, as defined by
Sectron 324 of the Companies Act 1985, in the Ordinary
share capital of the Company are shown below

There were no other movements i any of the
directors’ shareholdings between 1 July 2007 and
4 September 2007

None of the above directors had any beneficial interest
in the Company's Preference shares or Debenture Stock
at either 30 June 2007 or 4 Seplember 2007

Substantial shareholdings

The families of Albert J Mucklow (Honorary President,
previous Chairman and father of the Chairrman), Allan J
Mucklow {retired non-executive director and uncle of the
Chairman) and Margaret A Hickman (aunt of the
Chairman) collecuvely have an interest in 21,781,990
(2006 24,773,891} Ordinary shares representing
36 31% (2006 41 30%} of the 1ssued Ordinary Share
Capital

In addition to those noted above the Companv has
been notified of the following Interests in more
than 3% of its ssued Share Capital as at
12 September 2007

Ordinary shares

at 30 June

2006 or

at 30 June appointment

Directors’ shareholdings 2007 if later
Rupert J Mucklow 724,593 808,103
Justin Parker 3,810 2,631
Peter M Petherbridge 23,994 22,713
David F Austin 9,330 9,330
Dawvid C Groom 15,000 10,000
Paul A Ludlow — —
Substanual shareholdings Number %
Barclays PLC* 9,114,165 1519
Tellin {Bermuda} Lirmited 3,831,530 639
Woesleyan Assurance Society 3,020,000 503
AXA Framlington 2,310,000 385
NFU Mutual Insurance Society Ltd 2,174,248 362
Standard Life Investments 2,068,603 345

* Including 6,998,640 shares included in the Concert Party holding referred to above




Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance

During the year the Company purchased and maintained
liability insurance for 1ts dwectors and officers as
permitted by Section 310(3) of the Companies Act 1985

Going concern

After making enquines, the directors are satisfied that
the Group has adequaie resources to continue In
operational existence for the foreseeable future For this
reason they continue to adopt the going concern basis
in preparing the financial statements

Close company provisions

The Company I1s not a close company within the
provisions of the Income and Corporation Taxes
Act 1888

Properties

A professional review of the valug of the Group's
industrial and commercial properties was carried out by
DTZ Debenham Tie Leung at 30 June 2007

This revaluation has been incorporated in the accounts,
resulting In an increase of £16 bm in reserves Of this
amount, £16 3m has been recognised in the income
statement, with the balance going through the
statement of recognised income and expense

Financial instruments
Details of the use by the Company and its subsicdharies
can be found in note 25 to the accounts

Disclosure of information to auditors
Each of the directors at the date of approval of this
report confirms that

1} so far as the director s aware, there is no relevant
audit information of which the Company's auditors
are unaware, and

2} the director has taken all steps that he cught to have
taken as a director to make himself aware of any
relevant audit information and to establish that the
Company s auditers are aware of that intormation

This confirmation 1s given and should be interpreted n
accordance with the provisions of Section 234ZA of the
Companies Act 1985

Auditors

A resolution to reappoint Deloitte & Touche LLP as
the Company's auditors will be proposed at the
forthcoming Annual General Meeting

Qpc,@(aoj;x

By order of the Board

‘Y ot

David Wooldridge
Secretary

60 Whitehall Road, Halesowen
West Midlands, B63 3JS
28 September 2007
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FRC Combined Code

The Company has complied with the Code provisions set
out In Section 1 of the July 2003 FRC Combined Code on
Corporate Governance throughout the year ended 30 June
2007, except as disclosed below

The Company has applied the principles set cut in Section
1 of the Code, including both the main principles and
supporting pringiples, by complying with the Code as
reported above Further explanation of how the pninciples
and supporting principles have been applied 1s set out
below

The executive directors have not received a significant
praportion of their salary as performance related bonuses,
as suggested by code provision B 1 1 The Remuneration
Comrnittee has considered this and proposes that a new
tong Term Incentive Plan 1s introduced for executive
directors that will, subject to performance conditions being
met, enable the executive directors to earn a significant
proportion of therr total remuneration based on
performance Although Rupert Mucklow I1s an executive
director, as Chairman he will not participate in the proposed
plan Further details are included below and in the Board
Report on Directors’ Remuneration and the circular to
shareholders being sent out with this annual report

The Board

The Board compnsed three executive directors Rupert J
Mucklow (Chairman), Justin Parker {Managing Director)
and Peter M Petherbrndge, and two non-executive
directors Dawvid Austin (Senior Independent Non-
Executive) and Dawid Groorn Following the appointment
of Paul Ludlow as a non-executive director on 1 March
2007, Peter Petherbridge’s termination on 30 June 2007
and Dawid Wooldndge's appointrment as Finance Director
on 1 July 2007, the Board now compnises three executive
and three non-executive directors

On 4 September 2007 the Board announced that David
Groom {68} will not seek re-election at this years” Annual
General Meeting and will retire from the Board on
31 October 2007

The Board of directors 1s responsible to shareholders for
the management and control of the Company The
Board operates within agreed matters reserved for its
approval, which cover the key areas of the Group's
affarrs, including all aspects of strategy, material
property acqusitions, disposals and financing
arrangements The roles and responsibilities of the
Chairman and Managing Director are defined in writing,
with the Chairman responsible for the adrministration of
the Board, whilst the Managing Director co-ordinates
the Group’s business «nd impiements strategy The
terms and conditions of the non-executive directors are
avallable for inspection at the Company's office during
normal working hours

Board meetings are held on a menthly basis and each
Board member 1s provided with a report pack which
contains financial and operational information The Board
1S responsible for agreeing the major matters affecting the
running of the business, as well as monitonng and
reviewing performance and operating risks

A key area of consideration for the Group 15 the
independence of non-executive directors The Board has
considered the Code's indicators of a lack of
independence for non-executive directors and, as
previously stated, David Austin, David Groom and Paul
Ludlow are considered to be independent for the reasons
stated below

Dawvid Austin was appointed a non-executive director in
1995, and has therefore been on the Board for more than
nine years, a factor suggested by the Code as a potential
indicator of a lack of independence The Board considers
that David Austin s fully Independent of the Group and he
remains the Senior Independent Non-Executive Director
Mr Austin has confirmed 1n wnting that there are no
matters which, If considered, would mpar his
independence The Board also considers that Mr Austin
bnings extensive knowledge and expenence of property
matters to the Group

David Groom was appointed a non-executive director in
1996, and has therefore been on the Boeard for more than




nine years, a factor suggested by the Code as a potential
mndicator of a lack of independence The Board considered
that Dawvid Groom was fully independent of the Group and
he remains an independent non-executive director until his
resignation on 31 October 2007 Mr Groom has confirmed
In writing that there are no matters which, If considered,
would impair his independence The Board alse considers
that Mr Groom brings extensive knowledge and
expenence of finance matters 1o the Group

Paul Ludlow was appointed as a non-executive director on
I March ZU0/ The Board has considered Mr Ludiow's
position and the fact that he has had no previous
involverment with the Group and confirms that he s
independent

The executive directors have not recewved, but are
potentially able 1o receve, a significant proportion of therr
salary based on performance and are further pad
modestly in relation to comparable companies within the
sector Rupert Mucklow (Chairman) and Justin Parker
{Managing Director} are eligible for an annual cash bonus
of up to 50% of annual basic salary Justin Parker was also
eligible for a Long-Term Incentive Plan which could pay
out up to 50% of his annual basic salary

The first three-year performance measurement penod has
now expired No award has been made under this scheme
and no future awards are to be made Full details of the
schemes are included in the Board Report on Directors’
Remunerattion The Remuneration Committee has
considered the remuneration of the executive directors,
and appointed Delaitte & Touche LLP to give advice and
recommendations on Long-Term Incentives As a result of
this review, the Board 1s proposing to introduce a new
Long-Term Incenuve Plan for the executive directors
{excluding the Charrman) A circular confirming the details
of the proposed share-based scheme 1s being sent to
Shareholders with this annual report Further details are
included in the Board Report on Directors’ Remuneration
Deloiite & Touche LLP are the Group's auditors and tax
adwisers Deloitte & Touche LLP were paid £23,700 for
services to the Remuneration Committee in the year
ended 30 June 2007

The Board agreed to introduce annual performance
appraisals in 2004 and the first appraisal was held in
August 2005 The Board as a whole considered
its performance and the performance of s
subcommitiees

The Chairman carned out the review of the non-
executive directors, the non-executives reviewed the
Chawman, and the Chairman and non-executives
reviewed the remaining executive drrectors The
guestions set out in the Higgs guidance were
considered, where relevant to the Group The
conclusion of this review was that the Board and its
committees continue 1o operate effectively

All directors are required to submit themselves for re-
election every three years

David Wooldndge, Dawvid Austin and Paul Ludlow are
seeking re-election as directors at the 2007 Annual
General Meeting

David Wooldnidge FCCA ACIS (35), Finance Director, was
appointed to the Board on 1 July 2007 Mr Wooldndge
was appointed as Company Secretary in 2002

Dawvid Austin {68}, Senior Independent Non-Executive
Directar, was appointed to the Board in 1995 Mr Austin 1S
a chartered surveyor and former jont senior partner of
Bucknall Austin He acts as charman of the Audit ang
Remuneration Committees The Chairman confirms that,
following a full performance appraisal, David Austin
continues 1o be effective and demonstrates commitment
to his role

Paul Ludlow (61) was appointed as a non-executive
director on 1 March 2007, having previously been
Managing Director of Severn Trent Property Limited for 18
years, until its sale to ProLogis

All directors have access 1o the advice and services of the
Company Secretary and there are procedures i place for
a director to obtain independent professional advice,
where necessary, at the Company’s expense

The attendance of the drrectors at scheduled Board
meetings during the year ended 30 June 2007 15 as follows
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Board Audit Remuneration Nomination
Number held 12 4 1 2
Rupert J Mucklow 12 nfa n/a 2
Justin Parker 12 n/a nfa nfa
Peter M Petherbridge 12 nfa nfa nfa
David F Austin 11 4 1 2
David C Groom 12 4 1 2
Paul Ludlow* 4 3 1 1

nfa indicates not a member of thai committee

* Paul Ludlow was appomnted as a director on 1 March 2007

Board Committees

The Board has three subcommittees, the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committiee and the
Nomination Committee Dawid Austin  (Senior
Independent Non-Executive Director} acts as Chairman
for the Audit and Remuneration Committees RupertJ
Muckiow (Group Chairman} acts as Chairrman of the
Nomination Committee Wnitten terms of reference
have been agreed for each of these committees, and
these are avallable on request from the Company
Secretary or from the Company's website
(www mucklow com}

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprised David Austin FRICS
(Senior Independent Non-Executive) and David Groom
FCIB until 28 February 2007 From 1 March 2007 the
Committee comprnses David Austin, David Groom and
Paul Ludlow FRICS

The Audit Committee meets regularly

B To monitor the integnty of the financial statements
of the Company, and any formal announcements
refating to the Company’s financial performance,
reviewing significant financial reporting judgements
contained in them,

W To monitor and review the effectiveness of the
Company's internal controls,

B To make recommendations to the Board, for it to be
put to shareholders for their approval in general
meeting, i relaton to the appomntment,
reappointment and removal of the external auditor
and to approve the remuneration and terms of
engagement of the external auditor,

B To rewiew and monitor the external auditor's
independence and cbjectivity and the effectveness
of the audit process, taking into consideration
relevant UK professional and regulatory
requirements,

B To develop and mplement policy on the
engagement of the external auditor to supply non-
audit services, taking Into account relevant ethical
guidance regarding the provision of non-audit
services by the external audnt firm, and to report to
the Board, identifying any matters in respect of
which 1t considers that action or improvement is
needed and making recommendations as to the
steps 1o be taken

The whole Board reviews internals controls at Turnbull
Committee meetings

Representatives of Deloiite & Touche LLP the
Company's auditors, and semor management may
attend the Audit Committee meetings at the invitation of
the Committee




David Groom FCIB 1s considered to have relevant
financial experience

The Audit Committee annually reviews the levet of
effectiveness of the external auditors, audit and non-
audit fees paid to Delaitte & Touche LLP and the internal
independence policies of Deloitte & Touche LLP The
Committee does not constder that there I1s any nsk to
the independence or objectivity of the audit

Since the start of the financial year, the Audit Committee
has

B Reviewed the preliminary announcement and the
interim report As part of these reviews the
Committee received a report from the external
auditors on therr audit of the annual report and
accounts and review of the intenm report,

B Reviewed and agreed the scope of the audit work
to be undertaken by the auditors,

B Agreed the fees to be paid to the external auditors,

Rewviewed the need for an internal audit, and

B Reviewed the appointment of the external auditors
as auditors and tax adwvisers

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Commuttee comprised David Austin
{Senior Independent Non-Executive) and David Groom
until 28 February 2007 From 1 March 2007, the
Committee compnses Dawvid Austin, David Groom and
Paul Ludlow

The Remuneration Comrmittee measures  the
performance of the executive directors and key
members of senior management before recommending
their annual remuneration

The Committee consults the Chairman and Managing
Director about 1ts proposals and has access to
professional advice from nside and outside the
organisation

The Report of the Board to the shareholders on
Directors’ Remuneration 1s set out on pages 28 to 31

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprised Rupert J
Mucklow (Group Chairman), David Austun (Senior
Independent Non-Executive) and Dawvid Groom until
28 February 2007 From 1 March 2007 the Committee
comprised Rupert J Mucklow, David Austin, Dawid
Groom and Paul Ludlow

The Committee will normally hold meetings when
requested by the Chairman of the Committee

The Committee will be responsible for

B Reviewing changes to the Beoard and making
recommendations 10 the Board, including
succession planmng,

@ Considenng the most appropriate method of
recruitment for new Board members, and

B Any other work set by the Board of directors

The Commuttee will have access to external professional
advisers (legal or otherwise), where required to fulfil its
responsibilities isted above

For the appointment of Paul Ludlow as a new Non-
Executive Director, the Nomination Committee agreed
the required skills and background of a suitable
candidate with the Board The Board then sought
soundings and recommendations from a number of
Midlands property professionals The Board considers
that this process dentified a number of suitable
candidates who were independent of the Group As a
result, it was not considered necessary to appoint
external search agents or to use open advertising

In June 2007, the Board approved the Nomination
Committee’s recommendation to appoint Dawid
Wooldndge as Finance Director wath effect from
1 July 2007
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Shareholders

The Company encourages two-way communication with
both 1ts insututional and private investors and responds
quickly to all quenes recerved either verbally or in
writing Alf shareholders have at least 20 working days’
notice of the Annual General Meeting where all directors
and committee members mntend to be avalable to
answer questions

At the Annual General Meeting all votes are dealt with
on a show of hands and the level of proxy votes is
indicated Votes on separate 1ssues are proposed as
separate resolutions

Shareholders have access to the preliminary press
announcement which is tssued through the Company
website, www mucklow com

The Chairman regularly updates the Board with the
views of shareholders and analysts

Internal control
The Board 1s responsible for the system of internal
control and the review of 1ts effectiveness

The Board has previcusly introduced an ongoing process
for identifying, evaluating and managing the significant
risks faced by the Group The process has been in place
throughout the current year and up to the date of
approval of this annual report and accounts The process
Is regularly reviewed by the Board, based on reports
from management, and accords with the Internal
Control Guidance for Directors on the Combined Code
produced by the Turnbull working party

Key features of the system of internal control include

B the executive directors’ close involvement n all
aspects of the day-to-day operations of the
business, including regular meetings with senior
management to review all aspects of the business,

B acomprehensive financial reporting and forecasting
system,

B defined schedule of matters reserved for the Board,

B twice yearly internat controls meetings of the Board,
to discuss the effectiveness of internal controls and
formally consider business risks Issues are also
raised at monthly Board meetings as approprnate

Group strategy 1s regularly reviewed at the monthly
Board meetings and progress or develepments s

reported at each Board meeting

Steps are being taken to embed mternal control and nisk
management further into the operations of the business
and to deal with areas of improvement which come to
management's and the Board's attention

No internal audit function 1s considered necessary
because of the size of the Group and the systems and
procedures already In place The need for an internal
audit function 18 reviewed annually

Statement on internal control

The directors are responsible for the system of internal
control and for reviewing its effectiveness Such a system
IS designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of
fallure to achieve business objectives and can provide
only reasonable but not absolute assurance against
matenal misstatement or loss The Beard has reviewed
the effectiveness of the systemn of internal contral for the
financial year and the period to the date of approval of the
financial statemenis The key control procedures are
described under the following six headings

1. Financial reporting

The Group operates a budgetary system with annual
rolhng budgets containing monthly income statement,
balance sheet and cash flow information The
preparation of these budgets incorporates a review of
the commercial and other nsks facing the Group




together with the identification of the key performance
indicators {0 be used by management in monitoring the
Group's financial actvities and managing the commercial
risks faced by the Group Actual performance against
budget 15 monitored monthly at main Board meetings
using the established performance indicaters and
exception reporting

2. Quality and integrity of personnel

The Group recognises the importance of the quality and
integrity of its persennel and attention 1s pad tc the
expenence and capabihties of staff and therr traning
needs The standards of employee conduct expected by
the Group are formally docurmented and communicated

3. Operating unit controls

The Group has a comparatively simple operating
structure which comprises six investment companies
and a trading company The subsidiary companies are all
based in one location, which is at the Registered Office,
and conform to the same reporting and control
requirements as the Group

4, Computer systems

The Group is reliant on an effective computer system to
operate 1ts business The system that it uses 1s both
modern and simple, being a file server based network
which operates 20 PCs The pnncipal operating software
1s provided by Estate Computer Systems, a leading
suppher of genenc software to the property
management industry It 1s fully integrated which
provides comfort on the Integnty of data transfer
between the accounts and property management
suites The Group has a contingency plan In place to
cater for complete loss or falure of 1is own data
processing facility and has taken the necessary steps to
ensure the secunty of data on the network

5. Controls over central functions

The implementation and day-to-day operation of the
control procedures is the responsibity of the executive
directors and senior managerment Given the nature and
size of the Group’s business, the executive directors
review and approve all sighificant transactions,
particularly those relating to property purchases and
sales, capital expenditure and borrowing arrangements

The Group uses external managing agents on Its
property portfolio and the terms of their contracts and
performance are regularly reviewed

6. Role of the executive directors

Day-to-day management of the Group's actvities 1s
delegated by the Board to the executive directors All
operating units report to the executive directors They
monitor the effectiveness of operations and report to
the monthly Board meetings

Going concern

The directors have a reasonable expectation that the
Group has adequate resources to continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future For this reason,
they continue to adopt the going concern basis In
prepanng the financial statements
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Introduction

The Drrectors’ Remuneration Report Regulations 2002
{the “regulations”) ntroduced new disclosure
requirements for directors’ remuneration This report
has been prepared in accordance with those regulations
and a resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming
Annual General Meeting to consider and approve this
report

The regulations require the audntors to report to the
Companv's members as to whether in their onimion the
part of the report which requires auditing has been
properly prepared in accordance with the Companies
Act 1985 as amended by the regulations The table of
directors” emoluments in this report 1s audited as part
of this report The remaining information within this
report 1s unaudited

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consisted of two non-
executive directors until 28 February 2007 myself as
Chairman and David Groom On 1 March 2007 Paul
Ludlow was appointed as a non-executive director and
became a member of the Committee The Commitiee
now consists of myself as Charrman, David Groom and
Paul Ludlow The Committee 1s responsible for the
consideration and approval of the terms of service,
remuneration, pension arrangements and other benefits
of the Group executive directors This Repert should be
read in conjunction with the Directors’ Report which
constitutes part of this Report

The remuneration of the non-executive dwectors 1s
determined by the Board of directors, without the
participation of the non-executive directors Non-
executive directors do not receive any pension or share
scheme benefits from the Group

The Committee consults the Group Chairman and
Managing Director on 1ts proposals and has access to
professional advice from outside and inside the Group
The pelicy of the Committee 1s to provide a competitive
remuneration package to executive directors to attract,

retain and motivate those individuals and ensure that the
Group 1s managed successfully in the interests of
shareholders In forming remuneration policy, the
Remuneration Committee has given full consideration
to Section 1{B) of the Combined Code

The remuneration of the executive directors does not
currently have a significant performance related element
Rupert J Mucklow [Charrman} and Justin Parker
(Managing Director} are eligible for an annual cash bonus
of up to 50% of annual basic salarv Justin Parker 1s also
eligible for a Long-Term Incentive Plan which could pay
out up to 50% of his annual hasic salary The first three-
year performance measurement penod has now expired
MNo award has been made under this scheme and no
future awards are to be made under this scheme Full
details of the schemes are included below

The Remuneraucn Committee has considered this area
of non-compliance and has resolved that Rupert J
Mucklow and Justin Parker should be ehgble for an
annual cash bonus Having considered comparator
company evidence, the Committee decided that the
maximum bonus payable should be imited to 50% of
annual basic salary The bonus will be non-pensionable
The Remuneration Committee will have discretton over
the level of bonus paid, and will consider the following
factors when assessing the amount 1o be paid

B Financial performance in the year
B Individual performance in the year

W Strategic decisions taken for the long term, which
affect profits andfor net asseis in the short term

B Total shareholder return
B The overall remuneration of the individual

The Remuneration Committee has also introduced a
long-term ncentive plan It resolved that, for Justin
Parker only, a rolling three-year long-term incentive plan
should be introduced, which compares the Company's
total shareholder return (share prnice plus dividends
reinvested) against other quoted real estate companies




The maximum award, payable in cash, receivable by Mr
Parker will be based on 50% of his annual basic salary at
the start of each three-year penod No award will be
given f the Company's total return over the three year
pernod I1s below the FTSE Rea! Estate Index

The award will be given on a sliding scale as follows

Criterion Scale of award

In the top 30% of quoted
real estate companies 10%

In the top 25% of quoted
real estate companies 25%

in the top 20% of quoted
real estate companies 50%

In the top 16% of quoted
real estate companies 75%

In the top 10% of quoted
real estate companies 100%

The Remuneration Commttee considered the
remuneration policies of other listed real estate
compantes at the time Justin Parker was appointed to
the Group and they considered that the measurement
of the Group's performance agamnst the FTSE Real
Estate Price Index provides a good benchmark for total
shareholder return against similar quoted companies
The Remuneration Committee will use third-party
information providers to measure whether any award 1s
payable to Mr Parker

The first three-year penod began on 1 January 2004, and
new three-year measurement periods will commence
annually on 1 January No awards have been made under
the plan and no future awards will be made

Justin Parker was recruited by the Group on the basis
that performance related pay would form a part of his
total remuneration

The Remuneration Committee has considered the
remuneration arrangements of the executive directors and
has proposed that a new Long Term Incentive Plan be

introduced for executive directors {excluding the Chairmany
and senicr management at the Remuneration Committee’s
discretion Shareholders will be asked to vote on the
scheme at this year's Annual General Meeting

The A & J Mucklow Group plc 2007 Performance Share
Plan {"the plan”) will consist of annual awards in the
form of mil-priced options worth up to a maximum of
75% of annual base salary

The vesting of awards will be subject to stretching
periormance conQItions such that tuli vesting ot the
awards under the plan would reguire top decile total
shareholder return performance compared to the FTSE
All Share Real FEstate Sector For median total
shareholder return performance compared to the FTSE
All Share Real Estate Sector 20% of the award will vest
(1 e an award of 15% of annual base salary) For below
median performance, the award will lapse

For Justin Parker only, a transiional arrrangement 1s
proposed, as he will not be entitled to awards under the
old scheme in 2008, 2009, 2010 or future years An
award of 76% of salary which will vest after 18 months,
subject to the satisfaction of performance conditions, 15
therefore intended

Further detalls are included in the <¢ircular to
Shareholders

The Remuneration Committee considers that the annual
bonus, In conjunction with proposed long-term incentive
plan, will align the interests of the executive direciors
with shareholders generally Our aim 1s t0 only provide
exceptional salanes for exceptional performance

Executive directors’ remuneration
The main components of the executive directors’
remuneration are

1 salary which i1s reviewed on an individual basis each
year,

2 inrespect of Rupert J Mucklow and Jusun Parker,
an annual cash bonus,
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3  benefits in kind which relate principally to the  * Peter M Petherbndge receives a cash alternative to a

provision of a company car*, company car For the year ended 30 June 2007 this
4 n respect of Rupert J Mucklow, Justin Parker and amounted to £9,178

Peter M Petherbridge, pension contnibutions, Peter M Petherbridge recewes a contribution towards
5 an all employee, Inland Revenue approved, share his own personal pension plan

incentive plan Further details of the scheme are  Benefits in kind are not pensionable

given in the Directors’ Report A detalled audited summary of the directors’

emolurnents 1s given below
Termi-
nation
Directors’ Basic pay- Benefits Share Total
emoluments Satary Bonus ment Fees inkind Pension scheme 2007 2006
(audited) £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Executive
Rupert J Mucklow 231 25 — — 24 22 5 307 299
Justin Parker 197 45 — — 27 22 5 296 277
Peter M Petherbridge 169 — 200 — 5 22 5 401 192
Non-executive
David F Austin — — — 24 — — — 24 24
David C Groom — — — 21 — — — 21 20
Paul A Ludlow — — — 7 — — — 7 —
597 70 200 52 56 66 15 1,056 812

Notes with a value of £6,545, and Justin Parker received

1}
I}

n

)

There were performance related bonus payments

Benefits in kind principally relate to the prowvision of
a company car and fuel benefits

Rupert J Mucklow and Justin Parker are members
of a defined contribution pension scheme Peter M
Petherbridge has his own pension scheme to which
the Group contnbutes

The Group currently operates an Inland Revenue
approved all employee Share Incentive Plan Further
detalls are given in the Directors’ Report on page
16 Duning the year Rupert J Mucklow and Peter
Petherbridge each received 1,281 Ordinary shares,

1,279 Ordinary shares with a value of £6,536 at a
cost to each director of £1,500 {excluding tax rehef}
Non-executive directors were not eligible for the
schemes

vl Peter M Petherbndge 1s the sole proprietor of P M
Petherbridge & Co employing his own staff and
renting space at the Group’s head office For the
year ended 30 June 2007 P M Petherbndge & Co
received £24,003 in respect of administration fees
recharged, net of rent payable to the Group (2006
£23,144)

At 30 June 2007 P M Petherbndge & Co were
holding £ENd relating to depostits (2006 ENI)




With the exception of Peter M Petherbridge, no
director had any other interest in relation to the
Group's business

v} There are no share option schemes

Total shareholder return

The graph below shows the total return of the
Company's shares compared to the FTSE 350 Real
Estate pnice index, which has been selected as the most
relevant index for quoted real estate companies

Service contracts

The three executive directors, Rupert J Mucklow, Justin
Parker and Dawvid Wooldndge, have service contracts
which have a one-year rolling term The coniracts are
dated 1 July 1997 in respect of Rupert J Mucklow,
3 October 2003 win respect of Justin Parker and
12 September 2007 in respect of David Wooldndge
Peter Petherbridge had a service contract with a one-
year rolling term dated 10 July 2001 Non-executive
directors do not have service contracts

Executive directors’ contracts provide for termination
payments equal to salary and the value of ather benefits
for the perniod remaining under the contract

Pensions

Pension contributions are made by the Group into
existing defined contnbution personal pension schemes
on behalf of Rupert J Mucklow, Justin Parker and Dawid
Wooldridge  Peter ™M Petherbridge received
contnbutions to his defined contribution pension
scheme during the year No Group ¢ompany pension
scheme 15 operated for the other directors

Details of diwectors’ share interests are given in the
Directors' Report

As Chairman of the Comruttee, | intend to be available
at the Annual General Meeting to answer questions on
any aspect of the remuneration policy

Approved by and signed for and
on behalf of the Board

A Qi

David F Austin
Senior Independent Non-Executive Director
28 September 2007
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Independent Auditors’ Report

To the Members of A & J Mucklow Group plc
We have audited the Consolidated and Parent Company
financial statements {the “financial statements”) of
A & J Mucklow Group ple for the year ended 30 June
2007 which compnse the Consolidated Income
Statement, the Consclidated and Parent Company
Balance Sheets, the Consolidated and Parent Company
Statements of Recognised Income and Expense, the
Consoldated and Parent Company Cash Flow
Statements, and the related notes 1 to 31 These
financial statements have been prepared under the
accounting policies set cut therein We have also
audited the information in the Directors’ Remuneration
Report that 1s described as having been audited

This report ts made solely to the Company’s members,
as a body, In accordance with Section 235 of the
Companies Act 1985 Qur audii work has been
undertaken so that we might state to the Company's
members those matters we are required to state to
them in an audnors’ report and for no other purpose To
the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or
assume responsibiity to anyone other than the
Company and the Company’s members, as a body, for
our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we
have formed

Respective responsibilities

of directors and auditors

The directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual
Report, the Directors’ Remuneration Report and the
financial statements in accordance with applicable law
and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs)
as adopted by the European Union are set out in the
Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

Our responsibility I1s to audit the financial statements and
the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be
audited in accordance with relevant tegal and regulatory
requirements and International Standards on Auditing
(UK and Ireland}

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial
statements gwe a true and far view and whether the
financial statements and the part of the Directors’
Remuneration Report to be audited have been properly
prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985
and, as regards the Group financial statements, Article 4
of the IAS Regulation We also report 1o you whether in
our opinien the information given in the Directors’
Report I1s consistent with the financial statements The
information given in the Directors’ Report includes that
specific information presented n the Property and
Financial Review that 1s cross-referred from the Review
of Business section of the Directors” Report

In addition we report to you If, in our opimon, the
Company has not kept proper accounting records, if we
have not receved all the information and explanations
we require for our audit, or If information specified by
law regarding directors” remuneration and other
transactions 1s not disclosed

We review whether the Corporate Governance
Statement reflects the Company's compliance with the
nine provisions of the 2003 Combined Code specified
for our review by the Listing Rules of the Financial
Services Authority, and we report If 1t does not We are
not required to consider whether the Board's
statements on Internal control cover all nsks and
controls, or farm an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's corporate governance procedures or its risk and
control procedures

We read the other information contained in the Annual
Report as descrbed in the contents section and
consider whether 1t 1s consistent with the audited
financial statements We consider the implications for
our report If we become aware of any apparent
misstaternents or matenal inconsistencies with the
financial statements Qur respensibilities do not extend
to any further information outside the Annual Report




Basis of audit opinion

We conducted our audit In accordance with International
Standards on Auditing {UK and Ireland) issued by the
Auditing Practices Board An audit includes examination,
on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements and the part of
the Directors” Remuneration Report to be sudited It also
includes an assessment of the significant estimates and
judgements made by the directors in the preparation of
the financial statements, and of whether the accounting
pohcies are appropriate to the Group's and Cornpany’s
circumstances, consistently applied and adequately
disclosed

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain
all the information and explanations which we
considered necessary In order to provide us with
sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that
the financial statements and the part of the Directors’
Remuneration Report to be audited are free from
material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or
other wregulanty or error In forming our opinion
we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the
presentation of informatien 1n the financial statements
and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to
be audited

Opinion
In our opirion

B the Group financial statements give a true and fair
view, In accordance with |IFRSs as adopted by the
European Union, of the state of the Group's affars
as at 30 June 2007 and of its profit for the year then
ended,

B the Parent Company financial siatemenis give a
true and fair view, In accordance with IFRSs as
adopted by the European Union as applied in
accordance with the prowisions of the Companies
Act 1985, of the state of the Parent Company’s
affarrs as at 30 June 2007,

B the financial statements and the part of the
Directors” Remuneration Report to be audited have
been properly prepared in accordance wath the
Companies Act 1985 and, as regards the Group
financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation,
and

B the information given In the Directors’ Report 1s
consistent with the financial statements

Separate oninian in relation to IFRSs

As explaned in Note 1 to the Group financial
statements, the Group in addition to complying with its
legal obhgation to comply with IFRSs as adopted by the
European Union, has also complied with the 1FRSs as
1ssued by the International Accounting Standards Board

In our opinion the Group financial statements give a true
and fair view, In accordance with [FRSs, of the state of
the Group's affarrs as at 30 June 2007 and of its profit for
the year then ended

Qo pddn { Tancte LS

Deloitte & Touche LLP

Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
Birmingham, United Kingdom

28 September 2007
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual
Report and the financial statements The directors have
chosen to prepare accounts for the Company and the
Group in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) Company law requires the
directors to prepare such financial statements in
accordance waith International Finangial Reporting
Standards, the Companies Act 1985 and Article 4 of the
IAS Regulation

International Accounting Standard 1 reauires that
financial statements present faily for each financial year
the Company's financial position, financial performance
and cash flows This requires the faithful representation
of the effects of transactions, other events and
conditions In accordance with the definitiens and
recognition criteria for assets, liabsliues, income and
expenses set out In the International Accounting
Standards Board's ‘Framework for the preparation and
Presentation of Financial Statements’ In virtually all
circumstances, a farr presentation will be achieved by
complance with all applicable International Financial
Reporting Standards Directors are also required to

B properly select and apply accounting policies,

@ present information, including accounting policies,
in a manner that provides relevant, reliable,
comparable and understandable information, and

B provide additional disclosures when comphance
with the specific requirements n International
Financial Reporting Standards s insufficient to
enable users to understand the impact of particular
transactions, other events and condiions on the
entity s financial position and financial pertormance

The directors are responsible for keeping proper
accounting records which disclose with reasonable
accuracy at any time the financial position of the
Company, for safeguarding the assets, for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of
fraud and other irregulanties and for the preparation of a
Directors” Report which complies with the requirements
of the Companies Act 1985

The directors are responsible for the mamtenance and
integnty of the Company website Legislation in the
United Kingdom goverming the preparation and
dissemination of financial statements differs from
legislation in other junsdictions
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Annual Report and Accounts 2007

Consolidated Income Statement

for the year ended 30 June 2007

2007 2006
Notes £000 £000
Revenue 2 24,965 16,735
Gross rental iIncome relating to investment properties 2 14,285 14,351
Property cutgoings (748} (741)
Net rental income relating to investment properties 13,537 13,610
Proceeds on sale of trading properties 2 10,680 2,384
Carrying value of trading properties sold {518) {125}
Property cutqoings relating to trading properties {4 {5}
Net income from trading properties 10,158 2,254
Admiristration expenses {2,996} {2,401)
Operating profit before net gain on investments 20,699 13,463
Profit on disposal of investment properties 2,247 707
Net gains on revaluation of investment and development properties 16,322 23,739
Operating profit 4 39,268 37,909
Finance income 6 209 561
Finance costs {1.159) (2,036)
Exceptional loss on redemption of debenture (4,943) —
Total finance costs 6 {6,108) {2,036)
Profit before tax 4 33.369 36,434
Current tax {6,494} {3,619)
Current tax — REIT entry charge {5,736) —
Deferred tax charge {579) (5671)
Deferred tax released on REIT conversion 31,409 —
Total tax credit/icharge) 7 18,600 (9,290}
Profit for the financial peniod 51,969 27,144
Basic and diluted earnings per share 9 86 62p 45 24p

All operations are continuing




Consolidated Balance Sheet

at 30 June 2007
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2007 2006
Notes £000 £000
Non-current assets
Investment and development properties 10 286,768 257,406
Property, plant and equipment 11 1,726 1,602
Trade and other recevables 12 370 366
288,864 259,374
Current assets
Trading properties 13 921 1,282
Held for sale assets 14 - —
Trade and other recewvables 15 4,306 2,685
Cash and cash equivalents 1,252 11,065
6,479 15,032
Total assets 295,343 274 406
Current habilities
Trade and other payables 17 {7.,745) (8,037}
Borrowings 18 - (1,298}
Tax habiities {9,295) {(1,873)
(17,040} {11.208)
Non-current hiabilties
Borrowings 19 {18,878} {16,578}
Deferred tax 20 {133) {30 948)
(19,011) {47,526)
Total habilities {36,051) (58,734}
Net assets 259,292 215,672
Equuty
Called up aordinary share capnal 21 14,998 14,898
Revaluation reserve 22 927 3.424
Redemption reserve 23 11,162 11,162
Retained earnings 23 232,205 186,088
Total equirty 24 259,292 215,672
Net assets per Ordinary share
— Basic and diluted 9 432p 380p
— Adjusted 9 [ assp 431p

Rupert J Mucklow
David Wooldnidge

Approved by the Board on 28 September 2007

The notes attached are an integral part of the accounts

fie=n
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Parent Company Balance Sheet

at 30 June 2007

2007 2006
Notes £000 £000
Non-current assets
Investment and development properties 10 2,050 2,052
Investments 29 19,833 8,733
21,883 11,785
Current assets
Trade and other recevables 15 109,623 106,363
Corporation tax recoverable 4,737 2,218
Cash and cash equivalents 8 7,318
114,368 115,898
Total assets 136,251 127 683
Current habilities
Trade and other payables 17 {36,497) {69,292)
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 19 {18,878) (16,578)
Detferred tax 20 — {375}
{18,878) (16,953)
Total habilities {55,375} (76,245}
Net assets 80,876 51,438
Equity
Called up ordinary share capital 21 14,998 14,998
Redemption reserve 23 11,162 11,162
Retained earnings 23 54,716 25,278
Total equity 24 [%ZG 53,438

Rupert J Mucklow
David Wooldridge

Approved by the Board on 28 September 2007

/""\f\__/’
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Consolidated Statement of

Recognised Income and Expense
for the year ended 30 June 2007
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2007 2006

£000 £000
Gain on revaluation of development and owner-occupied properties 167 4415
Deferred tax hability on items taken to equity (34) {1,108}
Reversal of deferred tax on REIT conversion 19 —
Net gain recognised directly in equity 152 3,307
Profit for the year 51,969 27,144
Total recognised income and expense for the year 52,121 30,451
Parent Company Statement of
Recognised Income and Expense
for the year ended 30 June 2007

2007 2006

£000 £000
Gain on revaluation of development and owneroccupied properties —_ 227
Deferred tax hability on items taken to equity — 87
Net gain recognised directly in equity — 160
Profit for the year 37,939 28,082
Total recognised income and expense for the year 37,939 26,242
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

for the year ended 30 June 2037

2007 2006

Notes £000 £000
Cash flows from operating activities
Operating profit 39,268 37,909
Adjustments for non-cash items
— Unrealised net revaluation gains on investment and development properties (16,322) {23,739)
— Profit on disposal of investment properties {2,247) {707
— Depreciation and other non-cash items 35 71
Other movements ansing from operations
— Decrease n trading properties 361 10
— Increase in receivables (1,608) (670)
-— [Decreasel/increase in payables [268) 644
Net cash generated from operations 19,219 13,518
Interest receved 192 578
Interest paid {1,535) (1,863)
Premium on redemption of debenture stock {4,949} —
Preference dividends paid (47} a7
Corporation tax paid 4,919) (3,008}
Net cash inflow from operating activities 7.961 9,178
Cash flows from investing activities
Acguisition and property development (24,401} {13,008)
Sales of investment properties 14,136 11,643
Expendiure on property, plant and equipment 11} {689
Net cash outflow from investing activities (10,276} {2,062}
Cash Hows from financing activities
Net decrease In berrowings 2,301 —
Equity dvicdends paid (8,501) (7,913
Net cash outflow from financing activities (6,200) (7.913)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents {8,515} (787)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 July 9,767 10,654

Cash and cash equivalents at 30 June 16 1.252 9,767




Parent Company Cash Flow Statement

for the year ended 30 June 2007

a1

2007 2006
£000 £000
Cash flows from operating activities
Operating (loss)/profit {314) 79
Adjustrments for non<ash items
— Unrealised revaluatton lossesfigains) on investment properties 56 41)
Other movements ansing from operations
— Increase in receivables (9.219) (66,672)
— {Decreaselfincrease in payables {22,795) 50,099
Net cash generated from operations 132,272} (18,5235)
Interest received 159 497
Interest paid {1,027} (1,829)
Premium on redemption of debenture stock (4,949} -
Preference dividends paid 47) (47)
Corpaoration tax refunded - -
Corporation tax paid {4,918) (2,475)
Net cash gutflow from operating activities {43,054) {20,389)
Cash flows from investing activities
Expendrture on property, plant and equipment {54) (283}
Intercompany dividends 42,000 27,000
Net cash inflow from investing activities 41,946 26,717
Cash flows from financing activities
Net decrease in borrowings 2,301 —
Equity dividends paid {8,501} {7,913)
Net cash outflow from financing activities {6.200} {7,913
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents {2,308} {1,685}
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 July 7,316 8,901
Cash and cash equivalents at 30 June 8 7,316
Cash and cash equivalents consists of
Cash at bank —_ —
Short-term deposits 8 7,318
8 7.316
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Notes to the Accounts

1 Accounting policies
Basis of preparation of financial information
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) adopted
for use in the European Umion and therefere comply with Article 4 of the EU |AS regulation

The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention, except for the revaluation of iInvestment properties,
development properties and owner-occupied properties and deferred tax thereon, with consistent accounting palicies to the
prior year

The preparation of finangial statements requires the use of estimates and assumptions that affect reported amounts of assets
and habilibes dunng the reporting peniod These estimates and assumptions are based cn management s best knowledge of
the amount, event or actions Actua! results may differ from those amounts

The Group finanoial statements consolidate the financial statements of the Company and all its subsidiaries Control 1s
assumed where the Parent Company has the power to govern the financial and operational policies of the subsidiary

As permitted by Section 230 of the Companies Act 1985, the income statement of the Parent Company 1s not presented as
part of these accounts The Parent Company's profit for the financial year after taxation amounted to £37 Sm

Unrealised gains and losses on intra-group transactions and intra-group balances are eliminated from the conschidated results

At the date of authonsation of these financial staterments, the followang Standards and Interpretations which have not been
apphed In these financial statements were 1IN Issue but not yet effective

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments Disclosures, and the related amendment to |1AS 1 on capital disclosures

IFRS 8 Operating Segments

IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a lease

IFRIC 5 Rights to Interests Ansing from Decomrmissioning Restoration and Environmental Rehabilitation
funds

IFRIC 7 Applying the Restatement Approach under |AS 29 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies

IFRIC 8 Scope of IFRS 2

IFRIC 9 Reassessment of embedded denvatives

IFRIC 10 Intenm reporting and imparrments

IFRIC 11 IFRS 2 — Group and Treasury Share Transactions

IFRIC 12 Service Concession Arrangements

IFRIC 13 Customer Lovalty Programmes

IFRIC 14 1AS 19 — The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and therr Interaction

The directors anticipate that the adoption of these Standards and Interpretations in future penods will have no matenal mpact on
the financial statements of the Group except for additional disclosures on capital and financial instruments when the relevant
standards come into effect for penods commencing on or after  January 2007

Revenue recognition

Rental mcome

Gross rental iIncome represents rents receivable for the year Rent increases ansing from rent reviews due dunng the year
are taken into account only to the extent that such rewiews have been agreed with tenants at the accounting date

Rental income from operating leases 1s recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease
Lease incentives arg amortised on a strarght-hine basis over the lease term

Property operating expenses are expensed as incurred Service charges and other recoverables are credited aganst the
related expense

Revenue and profits on sale of investment and trading properties
Revenue and profits on sale of investment properties and trading propertes are taken into account on the completion of
contracts The amount of profit recogmsed 1s the difference between sale proceeds and the carrying amount

Dimvidend and interest income
Dividend income from investments in subsidianes is recognised when shareholders’ nghts to receive payment have been
established Interest ncome 1s recogrised on an accruals basis as and when it falls due




Accounting policies (continued)

Cost of properties

An amount equivalent to the total development outgoings, including interest, atinibutable to properties held for development
1s added to the cost of such properties A property 15 regarded as being in the course of development until Practical
Completion

Interest associated with direct expenditure on investment properties, which are undergoing development or major
refurbishment and development properties I1s capitalised Direct expenditure includes the purchase cost of a site or property
for development properties, but does net include the onginal book cost of investment property under development or
refurbishment Interest 1s capitalised gross from the start of the development work until the date of practical completion but
15 suspended If there are prolonged perods when development activity I1s Interrupted  The rate used 1s the rate on specific
associated borrowings or for that part of the development costs financed out of general funds, the average rate

Valuation of properties

Investment properties are valued at the balance sheet date at open market value Where investment properties are being
redeveloped the property continues to be treated as an investment property Surpluses and deficits attnbutable to the Group
aristng from revaluation are recognised in the mncome statement Valuation surpluses reflected in retained earnings are not
distnibutable untd realised on sale

Properties under development, which were not previously classified as investment properties, are valued at open market value
until practical completion, when they are transferred to investment properties Valuation surpluses and deficits attnbutable
to properties under development are taken to revaluation reserve until completion, when they are transferred to retained
earnings Where the valuation 1s below mstoric cost, the deficit 1s recogrised in the income statement

Owneroccupied properties are valued at the balance sheet date at open market value Valuation changes in owner occupied
property are taken to revaluation reserve

Trading properties held for resale are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value

Cnitical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

Management have made judgements over the valuation of properties that has a sigmficant effect on the amounts recognised
in the financial statements Management have used the valuation performad by its independent valuers as the farr value of
its Investment, development, owner-occupied and trading properties The valuation 1s based upon assumptions including
future rental Income and an appropnate discount rate The vafuers also use market evidence of transaction prices for similar
properties

Property, plant and equipment

Land and buildings held for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative purposes, are stated in
the balance sheet at their revalued amounts, being the fair value at the date of revaluatian, less any subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated iImpairment losses Revaluations are performed with sufficient regulanty such that
the carrying amount does not differ matenally from that which would be determined using fair values at the balance sheet
date

Any revaluation increase ansing on the revaluation of such land and bulldings I1s credited to the preperties revaluation reserve,
except to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease for the same asset previously recogmsed as an expense, iIn which
case the increase I1s credited to the income statement to the extent of the decrease previously charged A decrease in carrying
amourt ansing on the revaluation of such land and buildings 1s charged as an expense to the extent that it exceeds the
balance, if any, held in the properties revaluation reserve relating to a previous revaluation of that asset

Depreciation on revalued bulldings 1s charged to iInceme On the subsequent sale or retirement of & revalued property, the
attributable revaluation surplus remammg in the properties revaluation reserve 1s transferred directly to retained earnings

Plant and equipment 15 stated at cost less accumulated depreciation, less any recognised impairment

Depreciation
Depreciation 1s prowvided on builldings, motor vehicles and fixtures and fittings on a straight-line basis over the estimated
useful lives of between two and twenty-five years Investment properties are not depreciated

Government grants
Capital grants received relating to the cost of bullding or refurbishing Investment properties are deducted from the cost of
the relevant property Revenue grants are deducted from the related expenditure
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Notes to the Accounts

1 Accounting policies {continued)

Defarred taxation

Deferred taxation 1s provided in full on temporary differences that result in an obligatton at the balance sheet date to pay
more tax, or a nght to pay less tax, at a future date, at rates expected to apply when they crystallise based on current tax rates
and law Temporary differences arnise from the inclusion of items of income and expenditure In taxation computations In
perniods different from those in which they are included in the financial statements Deferred tax 1s provided on temporary
differences ansing from the revaluation of fixed assets Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it 1s regarded
as more likely than not that they wilf be recovered

Taxation

The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax The tax currently payable is based on
taxable profit for the year Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the Income staternent because 1t excludes items
of INcome and eapense that are taxable or deductible in other years and 1t further eacludes itemis that are never taxable o

deductible The Group’s hiability for current tax 1s calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantally enacted
by the batance sheet date

Tax 1s recognised 1n the income statement except for items that are reflected directly in equity, where the tax 1s also
recognised In equity

Pension costs
The cost to the Group of contributions made to defined contnbution plans 1s expensed when the contributions fall due

Acquisitions

On the acquisition of a business, including an interest In an asscciated undertaking, far velues are attributed to the Group's
share of separable net assets Where the fair value of the cost of acquisiion exceeds the farr value attributable to such assets,
the difference i1s treated as purchased goodwill and capitalised in the balance sheet in the year of acquisition

Goodwili 1s reviewed annually for impairment Under the Group's previous policy, £134,728 of goodwill has been written off
directly to reserves as a matter of accounting policy This would be credited to the income statement on disposal of the
husiness to which 1t related

Group undertakings
Investments are included in the balance sheet at cost less any permanent diminution in value

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial habiliies are recogrised on the Group's balance sheet when the Group becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are measured at initial recogmition at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest rate method Appropnate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts are recognised In the income
statement when there 1s objective evidence that the asset 1s impared The aliowance recognised 1s measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of future cash flows discounted at the effective rate
computad at initial recognition

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents compnise cash in hand and demand deposits, and other short-term highly iquid investments that
are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant nsk of changes in value

Financial habilities and equity
Financial labiliies and equrty instruments are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into
An equity Instrument 1s any contract that evidences a residual interest In the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilites

Bank borrowings o

Interest-bearing bank loans and overdrafts are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct 1ssue costs Finance charges,
including premiums payable on settlernents or redemption and direct 1ssue costs are accounted for on an accrual basis in
profit or loss using the effective interest rate method and are added to the carrying amount of the nstrument to the extent
that they are not settled in the penod in which they anse

Trade payables
Trade payables are initially measured at farr value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method

Equnty instruments
Equity instruments rssued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct 1ssue costs




Revenue
2007 2006
£000 £000
Total rental income from investment and development properies 14,285 14,351
Proceeds on sale of trading properties 10,680 2,384
24,965 16,735
Finance ncome (note 6) 209 561
Total revenue 25,174 17,296
Segmental analysis — primary segments
2007 2006
£000 £000
Investment and development properties
— Net rental income 13,537 13,610
— Profit on disposal 2,247 707
— Gain on revaluation of iInvestment properties 16,754 23,739
— Deficit on revaluation of development properties {432} —_
32,106 38 056
Trading properties
— Proceeds on sales 10,680 2,384
— Carrying value on sales {518} {125)
— Property outgoings 4) {5
10,158 2,254
Administration expenses (2,996) (2,401)
Operating profit 39,268 37,900
Net financing costs ~ — ordinary {950} {1,479)
— exceptionai {4,949) —
Profit before tax 33,369 36,434
The property revaluation surplus has been recognised as follows
Income statement
— Investment properties 16,754 23739
- Development properties {432} —
16,322 23,739
Statement of recognised income and expense
— Development and owner cccupied properties 167 4,415
Total revaluation surplus for the penod 16,489 28,154
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3 Segmental analysis — primary segments {(continued)

2007 2006
£000 £000
Balance sheet — segment assets
Investment and development properties
— Segment assets 290,735 260,025
— Segment habilites 6,373} {37,481)
284,362 222,564
Trading properties
— Segment assets 921 1,282
— Segment habilities 1) —
920 1,282
Other activities
— Unallocated assets 2,435 2,034
— Unallocated liabilities {10,799} {3.397)
— Net borrowings {17.626) {6,811}
(25,990} (8,174}
Net assets 259,292 215,672
Capital expenditure
Investment and development properties 24,460 12,778
Property, plant and equipment 94 952
24,554 13,730
Depreciation
Investment and develepment properties — —
Property, plant and equipment 98 Al
98 71

All operattons and income are derived from the United Kingdom
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4 Profit for the year

2007 2006

£000 f000
Profit for the year has been arrived at after chargingf{crediting)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 98 71
Profit on the sale of fixed assets (63) {5
Net gain on revaluation of investment and development properties {16.322) {23 739)
Staff costs {see note 5) 1.829 1,663
Professional fees incurred for REIT conversion 181 —

a
-~
o
cr
[+
F
Q
<7
a
<
[0}
go
—
1
T
E)
©

Tne amount snown apove for protessiona fees incurred for REIT conversion nciudes amounts p
LLP, which are also disclosed below

Auditors’ remuneration — Deloitte & Touche LLP

2007 2006
£000 £000
Fees payable to the Company’s auditors for the audit of the Company’s

annual accounts 36 36

Fees payable to the Company's auditors and its associates for other services
Audit of the Company s subsidiaries pursuant to tegislation 12 12
Other services pursuant te legislation 7 3
55 51
Tax services 100 65
Alt other services 25 5
180 121

All of the above iterns are included in administration expenses

The fees paid to the Group's auditors in respect of other services primanly relate to corporate tax compliance werk and
corporate tax advice, VAT advice, and advice on the impact of International Financial Reporting Standards and becoming a REIT
on the Group The level of fees paid to Delaitte & Touche LLP for non-audit services dunng the year has been reviewed by
the Audit Committee, who are satisfied that there 1s no risk of the independence of the audit being compromised

The use of Deloitte & Touche LLP as tax advisers s considered to be appropriate given the complexity of the Group s tax
affairs, which requires a detalled knowledge of the structure and histery of the organisation
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5 Staff costs (including directors)

2007 2006

Number Number
Staff numbers and costs
The average number persons employed by the Group (including directors)
during the year was as follows
Management 5 5
Administration 7 7
Property 5 8
Total emolovees 17 20

The Parent Company has no employees other than directors and no staff costs The remuneration of the directors s pad by
another Group undertaking for the current and prior financial year and no part of their remuneration 1s specifically attnibutable

to their services for this company

The aggregated payrall costs (Including directors) were as follows

2007 2006
£000 £000
Wages and salaries 1,285 1,272
Termination payment 235 —
Social secunty costs 168 160
Pensicn costs 141 131
1,829 1,563

Pension arrangements

The Group operates defined contribution plans for qualifying permanent staff with payments invested with the Standard Life

Assurance Company Mr P M Petherbridge had his own pension plan to which the Group contributes

Pension contributions (including directors) paid in the year ended 30 June 2007 amounted to £141,019 (2006 £131 152}

6 Net financing costs

2007 2006

£000 £000
Finance costs on
Debenture stock 1,068 1829
Preference share dividend 47 47
Capitalised interest {508} —
Other interest payable 552 160
Total finance costs — ordinary 1,159 2,036
Premium on redemption of debenture stock 4,949 —
Total finance costs 6,108 2,038
Finance income on
Short-term deposits 13 22
Other interest receivable 196 539
Total finance income 209 581
Net finance costs 5,899 1,475

In December 2006 the Group redeemed £11 70m of its 11 5% First Mortgage Debenture Stock 2014 at a price of £141 81

per £100 of stock

The total cost of redemption was £16 65m leading to a premium on redemption of £4 85m This exceptional premium has

reduced the tax charge for 2007 by £1 48m
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Taxation
2007 2008
£000 £000
Tax charge
Current tax
— Corporation tax charged at 30% 4,154 2,998
— Tax in respect of property disposals 2,340 621
6,494 3,619
Current tax
— REIT conversion charge 5,736 —
Total current tax 12,230 3619
Deferred tax
— Deferred tax on property revaluations 922 5,221
— Other deferred tax {166) 173
— Prior year adjustment (177} 277
— Release on conversian to REIT {31,409) —
Detferred tax {credit)/charge {30,830) 5,671
Total tax recognised in the Income statement (18,600) 9290
Tax recogrused in equity
Deferred tax 15 1108
The charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit per the income statement as follows
2007 2008
£000 £000
Profit on ordinary activities before tax 33,369 36,434
Profit on ordinary activiues before tax multiplied by the standard rate of
UK corporaticn tax of 30% (2006 30%} 10,010 10,930
Eftect of
Indexation relef and tax base difference on investment properties {2,441) {1,767
Capital allowances {629) (181)
Other deferred tax movements (264) {21)
REIT conversion charge 5,736 —
REIT converston on deferred tax provisions {31,404} —
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 102 32
Adjustments in respect of prior years 230 277
(18,600} 8,290

The Group becarne a Real Estate Investment Trust {REIT) on 1 July 2007 Under the REIT regime properties which are
developed and then sold wathin three years do not benefit from the tax exemption provided to a REIT No deferred tax has
been provided in respect of this potential tax liability as the Group has no current plans to dispose of the development
properties In the prior year the amount of deferred tax was prowided in full The value of development properties at
30 June 2007 was £28 14m and if the tax exemption was lost the amount of tax payable on this value would be £6 02m

The Chancellor's budget announced proposed changes to the future rate of corporation tax to reduce the rate to 28% (2006
30%} This Finance Bill was approved by the House of Commons on 26 June 2007 and will therefore have an effect on future

deferred tax balances and on future tax charges
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8 Dividends

2007 2008
£000 £000

Amounts recognised as distributions to equity holders n the year
Final dividend for the year ended 30 June 2006 of 7 48p (2005 & 96p) per share 4,487 4,175
Interim dividend for the year ended 30 June 2007 of 6 69p (2006 6 23p) per share 4,014 3,738
8,501 7,913

The directors propose a final dividend for the year ended 30 June 2007 of 8 04p (2006 7 48p} per Ordinary share, totalling

£4,823 366

The proposed final dvidend 1s subject to approval by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting and has therefore not been

included as a hability in these financial statements

The final dividend, If approved, will be paid on 31 December 2007 to Shareholders an the register at the close of business on

30 November 2007

9 Profit, earnings per share and net asset value per share
Profit
The adjusted profit before tax has been amended from the profit before tax as follows

2007 2006

£000 £000

Profit before tax 33,369 36 434
Prermium on redemption of debenture stock 4,949 —
Profit on disposal of investment properties (2,247 (707)
Net gain on revaluation of investment and development properties {16.,322) (23,7391
Adjusted profit before tax 19,74% 11988

Earnings per share

The basic and diluted earnings per share of B6 62p {2006 45 24p) has been calculated on the basis of the weighted average
of 59,991,990 Crdinary shares and earnings of £51 97m (2006 £27 14m) The adjusted earnings per share has been amended

from the basic and diluted earnings per share by the following

2007 2006
£000 £000
Earnings 51,969 27,144
Profit on disposal of investment properties {2,241} {707
Tax charged on profit on disposal of iInvestment properties (note 7) 2,340 621
Net gain on revaluation of iInvestment and development properties {16,322) {23,739}
REIT conversion charge 5,736 —
Deferred tax {(20,830) 5,671
EPRA adjusted earrings 10,646 8,990
Premium on redemptton of debenture stock 4,949 —
Tax thereon at 30% (1.485) —
Adjusted earnings 14110 8,890
EPRA diluted earnings per share 17 75p 14 99p
Adjusted {and adjusted diluted) earmings per share 2352p 14 92p




9 Profit, earnings per share and net asset value per share (continued)

The Group presents an adjusted earnings per share figure as the directors consider that this 1s a better indicator of the

performance of the Group
There are no dilutive shares

Net asset value per share

The net asset value per share has been calculated on the basis of the number of equity shares in 1ssue of 563,891,980 and net
assets of £259 29m (2006 £215 67m) The adjusied net asset value per share has been calculated as follows

2007 2006
£000 £000
Equity shareholders' funds 259,292 215672
Valuation of land held as trading properties 9,995 18,847
Mark to market on debt 1,341} {5,470)
Book value of land held as trading properties {921) (1,282}
Deferred tax 133 30,948
267,158 258,815
EPRA {adjusted) net asset value per share 445p 431p
10 Investment and development properties
{a) Group Freehold Leasehold Total
£000 £000 £000
At 1 July 2005 204,793 21180 225,973
Acquisittons 7.85% — 7.85%
Additions 3814 1,105 4,919
Disposals (3,150 (7,790) (10,940)
Transfer from owneroccupied property 1,880 — 1,880
Revaluation surplus 25,720 1,895 27,615
At 1 July 2006 241,016 16,390 257,406
Acquisitions 20,489 —_ 20489
Additions 3,229 684 3,913
Capitalised interest 508 — 508
Disposals {11,889} - {11 889)
Revaluation surplus 16,575 (234) 16,341
At 30 June 2007 269 928 16,840 286,768
Compnsing
Investment properties 241,792 16,840 258,632
Properties for or under redevelopment 28,136 — 28,136
269,928 16,840 286,768
Properties held at valuation
Cost 127,513 13,459 140 972
Valuation surplus 142,415 3,381 145,796
Valuation 269,928 16,840 286 768
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10 Investment and development properties {continued)
Investment and development properties have been included at market value afier having deducted an amount of £0 22m
(2006 £0 22m) 1n respect of lease Incentives and letting fees included in trade and other receivables

The properties are stated at thewr 30 June 2007 market value and are valued by DTZ Debenham Tie Leung and CBRE,
professionally qualified external valuers in accordance with the RICS Appraisal and Valuation Standards published by the
Roval Institution of Chartered Surveyors DTZ Debenham Tie Leung and CBRE have recent experience in the relevant location
and category of the properties being valued A reconciliation to the amount included above 1s set out below

£000
DTZ and CBRE valuation as at 30 June 2007 288,266
Owner-occupred property included in property, plant and equipment {1 407}
Lease inducements (216}
Other adjustments 125
Investment and development properties as at 30 June 2007 286,768

Additions to freehold and leasehold properties include capitalised nterest of £0 51m (2006 £nil) The capitalisation rate used
was B 1% The total amount of interest capitalised included in freehold and leasehold properties is £2 85m (2006 £2 76m)

Properties valued at £87 8m (2006 £75 8m) were subject to a secunty interest

{b) Company
Freehold
£000
At valuation 1 July 2008 2,052
Additions 54
Revaluation defioit (56)

At valuation 30 June 2007 2,050




11 Tangible fixed assets and owner-occupied properties

Group Plant &

Freehold vehicles Total

£000 £000 £000

At 1 July 2005 2,072 786 2,858
Additions 520 432 952
Disposals — {55} (55)
Transfer to investment properties (1 980) — {1,980)
Revaluation surplus 539 — 539
ALY July 2008 1,151 1,163 2,214
Additions 10 84 94
Disposals — (421) {421)
Revaluation surplus 148 —_ 148
At 30 June 2007 1,308 826 2,135
Depreciation
At 1 July 2005 — 665 665
Charged in year — n 71
On disposals — (24) (24}
At 1 July 2008 — n2 712
Charged In year — 98 98
On disposals — {401) (401)
At 30 June 2007 — 408 409
Net book value
At 30 June 2006 1,151 451 1,602
At 30 June 2007 1309 417 1726
Properties held at valuation
Cost 948 — 948
Valuation surplus 361 — 361
Valuation 1,309 — 1,309

Owner-occupied properties are valued by DTZ Debenham Tie Leung on the same basis as the investment properties See note
10 for details




54

A&J Mucklow Group plc
Annual Report and Accounts 2007

Notes to the Accounts

12 Non-current trade and other receivables

2007 2006
£000 £000
Mortgages receivable 370 368
The figures shown above are after deducting a provision for bad and doubsful debts of £0 Tm (2006 £0 1m}
The directors constder that the carrying amount of trade and other receivables spproximates to fair value
The mortgages are receivable on the disposal of the secured properties
13 Trading properiies
2007 2008
£000 £000
Land stock 921 1,282
14 Held for sale assets
2007 2008
£000 £000

Antiques

The held for sale assets represent antiques previously used as office furnishings in our Haden Cross offices Following the
relocation of the Group's head office in June 2006 a number of the antiques were put into storage for disposal at auction Iin

the year ended 30 June 2007 A profit of £0 08m was made n the year

The antiques had been wnitten off in full in the accounts in prior years

15 Trade and other receivables

2007 2008
Group £000 £000
Falling due in less than one year
Trade debtors 241 1,329
Other debtors 1 108
Prepayments and accrued income 1,874 1,248
4,306 2,685

Included in prepayments I1s an amount of £1 63m {2006 £1 02m) relaung to lease incentives which are amortised to the

lease end

The figures shown above are after deducting a provision for bad and doubtful debts of £0 1m (2006 £0 1m)

2007 2006

Company £000 £000
Falling due in less than one year

Group undertakings 109,611 106,352

Prepayments and accrued income 1 <]

VAT 1 2

109,623 108,363

The directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other receivables approximates to farr value
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16 Cash and cash equivalents

2007 2006
£000 £000
Cash at bank and in hand 1,244 (1,298}
Short-term deposits 8 11,065
1,252 9,767
17 Trade and other payables

2007 2006
Group £000 £000
Deferred income in respect of rents and insurances 4,334 4,031
Trade payables 965 1,590
Accruals and deferred income 2,446 2,418
7,745 8,037

Company
Group undertakings 36,093 58,358
Trade payables 3 —
Accruals 401 934
36,497 59,292

The directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other payables approximates to far value

18 Borrowings — hank overdraft and loans

2007 2006
£000 £000
Bank overdraft (repayable on demand) - 1,298

In 1999 the Group arranged a £20m revolving credit facility with HSBC Bank plc Secunty has been given aver certain freehold
properties held by the Group Dunng 2005 the facility was reviewed and the facility now expires in 2010

On 19 June 2000, the revolving credit was reduced to £15m and the Group's overdraft imit increased from £5m to £10m
On 22 March 2007, a furiher revolving credit of £20m was agreed with HSBC Bank plc with expiry in 2012 The Group's
overdraft facility 1s reviewed annually

Of the total £35m revolving credit facilities, £14m (2006 £nil} was utilised at 30 June 2007
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19 Borrowings

2007 2006

Group and Company £000 £000
11 5% First Mortgage Debenture Steck 2014 4,203 156,903
Revolving credit facility 14,000 -_
675,000 (2006 675,000} Preference shares of £1 each 675 675
18,878 18,578

The 11 5% First Mortgage Debenture Stock 2014 1s secured by first legal mortgages on certain freehold and leasehold
properties and by a first floating charge on the undertakings and all property assets and rights present and future including
any uncalled capital of A & J Mucklow {Properties) Limited, a wholly owned subsichary undertaking of the Company

The 11 5% First Mortgage Debenture Stock 2014 1s redeemable at par on the final redemption date The Company may
purchase the stock at any time in the market or by tender Dunng the year the Group redeemed £11 70m of the 11 5% First
Mortgage Debenture Stock 2014 at a cost of £16 59m

Details of the revolving credit facility are given in note 18

The Preference shares carry the night to a fixed cumulative dwvidend of 7% per share per annum This amount 1s payable half
yearly in arrears on 30 June and 31 December each year Untl the abolition of Advance Corporation Tax in 1988 the rate
apphcable to the Preference shares was 4 8% net

In the event of the Company being wound up, the Preference shares entitle the holder to repayment of the capital paid up
plus a premium and any arrears of dividend {net of tax credity The premum payable on each share will be based on the
excess (If any) over par of the average daly middle-market quotations dunng the six menths immediately preceding the
relevant date, less arrears of dividend (net of tax credit)

The Preference shares carry no nght to vote at General Meetings

20 Deferred tax

{a} Group 1July Recognised Recogmsed REIT 30 June
2006 In Income n equity release 2007
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Valuation surplus on properties 24,276 922 34 (25,161) M

Capital allowances 8,504 {398) — (6 044) 62

Other timing differences 168 55 — {223) —

Total deferred tax 30,948 579 34 {31,428) 133

{b) Company

Vaiuation surplus on properties 375 (28} — (347 _

Total deferred tax 375 {28} — (347} —

Unrecognised deferred tax assets in relation to Industrial Bulldings Allowances (IBAs) on leased builldings with a maximum
value of £ni {2006 £3 8m} existed at the balance sheet date This has anisen as a result of conversion to a Rea! Estate
Investment Trust (REIT) Had the REIT conversion not taken place then the proposals announced in the Budget in March
2007 but not yet enacted would be expected to significantly reduce the potential value of the unrecognised asset The
Company has no unrecognised deferred tax assets The directors consider that there 1s significant uncertainty as to whether
this amount will be realised and have therefore not recognised this ameunt In the financial statements




21 Share capital

2007 2008
£000 £000

Authorised
Equity
117,300,000 (2006 117,300,000) Ordinary shares of 25p each 29,325 29,325
Allotted, Called Up and Fully Paid
Equity
59,991,990 (2006 59,991,990} Ordinary shares of 25p each 14,998 14 998

In addition to the above, the Company has £675,000 (2006 £675,000} at norminal value of £1 Preference shares, representing
4% {2006 4%) of the Company's capital These are classified within non-current borrowings, see note 19

22 Revaluation reserve

{a} Group Property Related
revaluation deferred
reserve tax Total
£000 £000 £000
At 1 July 2005 2,894 (672) 2.322
Surplus on development properties 4415 (1,108} 3,307
Category transfer re completed developments {1,274} 370 {904)
Transfer of owner-occupied propeny to investment property {1,669} 368 (1,301)
At 1 July 2006 4,466 (1,042) 3424
Surplus on development and owner occupied properties 167 (34) 133
Category transfer re completed developments (3.604) 985 (2,619
Transfer of development property to investment property (30 — {30)
Reversal of deferred tax on REIT conversion — 19 19
At 30 June 2007 999 {72} 927
{b} Company
At 1 July 2005 1,441 (301} 1,140
Surplus on owner-occupied properties 227 {67} 160
Transfer of owner-occupied property to Investment property {1,668) 368 {1,300}

At 1 July 2006 and 30 June 2007 — _ —

The revaluation reserve represents the revaluation surplus on the revaluation of development and owneroccupied properties
As this reserve 13 made up of unrealised profits and losses, 1t 15 not avarlable for distnbution to shareholders untl realised
through sale

The deferred tax relates to the unrealised valuation surpluses included in this reserve




A&J Mucklow Group plc
Annual Report and Accounts 2007

Notes to the Accounts

23 Equity reserves

{a) Group Caprtal
redemption Retained
reserve earnings Total
£000 £000 £000
At 1 July 2006 11,162 186,088 197,250
Profit for the financial year —_ 51,969 51,969
Dividends paid — {8,501} (8,601)
Transfer on complation of development properties — 2819 2,619
Transfer an reclassification of development property —_ 30 30
At 30 June 2007 11,162 232,205 243,367
{b) Company
At t July 2006 11,162 25,278 36,440
Profit for the financial year — 37,938 37,939
Dividend paid - {8,501) (8,501}
At 30 June 2007 11,162 54,116 65,878

The Capital Redemption Reserve represents the nominal value of Ordinary shares redeemed by the Company in prior years

24 Reconciliation of movements in equity

2007 2006
Group £000 £000
QOpening net assets 215,672 193,134
Total recognised incoms and expense 52,121 30,451
Diwdends {8.501) (7,913)
Closing net assets 259,292 215672
Company
Opening net assets 51,438 33,109
Total recognised income and expense 37,939 26,242
Dividends {8.501} {7.913)
Closing net assets 80,876 51,438




25 Financial instruments

The Group's princpal financial instruments are debenture loans, bank borrowings, Preference share capital, cash and short-
term deposits No interest rate hedging or trading in financial instruments was entered into during the period under review
The Group's policy 1S net to enter Into or trade in denvative financial Instruments

The disclosures below exclude short-term receivables and payables The information on the fair value of short-term receivables
and payables 1s given in notes 15 and 17

2007 20086
Interest rate risk and profile — Group £000 £000
Sterling financial habilities
11 5% First imorigage Debenture Swck 2014 4,203 15,903
Preference shares 675 675
Fixed rate 4,878 16,578
Floating rate (not hedged) 14,000 1298
18,878 17,876
Interest rate nsk and profile — Company
Sterling financial liabilities
11 5% First Mortgage Debenture Stock 2014 4,203 15,203
Preference shares 675 675
Fixed rate 4,878 16,578
Floating rate (not hedged) 14,000 —_
18,878 16,578

The effective Interest rate on fixed rate financial habilities at 30 June 2007 was 10 88% {2006 11 32%) These liabhities
excluding the preference share capital, are fixed for a weighted average penod of 7 years (2006 8years} The bank overdraft
and revolving credit facility are at floating rate based on LIBOR or base rate

2007 2006
Group £000 £000
Sterling financial assets
Floating rate {not hedged) 333 i1,117
Fixed rate 67 85
Non-interest bearing 24% 249
649 11,431
Company
Sterling financial assets
Floating rate [(not hedged) 8 7,316

Financial assets are cash at bank and in hand, shon-term deposits and mortgages recevable There were no money market
deposits at 30 June 2007 In 2006 the effective interest rate was 3 33% fixed for a weighted average pernod of
1 day Cash at bank 1s at floating rate based on base rate
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25 Financial instruments (continued)
Liquidity risk and maturity profile — Company and Group
The Group's policy for financing the business was mainly through the use of fixed rate long-term loans to manage Interest
rate nsk In December 2006 the Group redeemed £11 7m of the 11 5% Debenture Stock 2014 and refinanced it with a five-
year Revolving Credit Facility With this in mund the debt structure for the Group at 30 June 2007 was as follows

2007 2007 2008 2006

Interest rate sk and profile £000 % £000 %
More than two years but not more than

five years 14,000 T4% — —

Mare than five vears 4,878 26% 16,578 100%

18,878 100% 16,578 100%

The Group had undrawn revolving credit faciliies of £21m at 30 June 2007 (2006 £15m), which expire in 2010 and 2012 The
Group has a £10m overdraft facility which expires in less than one year £10m of this facility was undrawn as at 3¢ June 2007
(2006 £8 7m was undrawn)

Book Fair Fair value % of
Fair values value value adjustment Book value
As at 30 June 2007 £000 £000 £000
11 5% First Mortgage Debenture Stock 2014 4,203 5,544 1341 32
Revolving credit facility 14,000 14,000 — —
Preference shares 675 648 {27} (4}
Net debt and Preference share capital 18,878 20,192 1,314 7

Book Fair Fair value % of
Fair values value value adjustment Book value
As at 30 June 2006 £000 £000 £000
i1 5% First Mortgage Debenture Stock 2014 15,903 21,373 5470 34
Preference shares 675 648 (27) {4)
Net debt and Preference share capital 16,578 22,021 5,443 33

The farr value of the Debenture Stock 1s based on the mid price at the close of business of that instrument as sourced from
the Daty Official List for 30 June 2007 and 30 June 2006 respectively The fair value of the Preference share capital has been
based on its latest trade as 1t had not been quoted on the Daily Official List since 13 September 2002 The farr value of the
revolving credit facihty has been calculated by discounting expected cash flows at prevalling interest rates at the year end and
15 not matenially different to book value

The far value of financial assets is not materially different to book value

Credit nsk
The Group’s principal financial assets are bank balances and cash, trade and other receivables and mortgages

The Greoup's credit nisk I1s pnmarily aitributable to 1ts trade and mortgage receivables The amounts included in the balance
sheet are net of allowances for bad and doubtful debts An allowance for impairment 1s made where there 15 an identified
loss event which, based on previous experience, 15 evidence of a reduction in the recoverabihity of the cash flows

The credit nsk on hguid funds 1s hmited because the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by international
creditrating agencies

The Group has no significant concenitration of credit sk, with exposure spread over a large number of tenants covenng a wide
varnety of business types




26 Contingent liabilities
The bank overdrafts and loans of the Group are secured by interlocking cross guarantees given by the Company and subsidiary
undertakings All of the overdrafts and loans are included in the consolidated balance sheet

The Company and certain subsidianies have, in the normal course of business, given guarantees in respect of development
contracts of subsidiary undertakings

27 Operating leases
The Group leases out all of its investment properties under operating leases

Future aggregate mimmum rentals recevable under noncancellable operating leases are

2007 200/
£000 £000
Not later than cne year 13,456 13,300
Later than one year but not later than five years 42,889 40,809
Later than five years 32,980 34,422
89,325 88,531
28 Commitments
2007 2006
£000 £000
{a} Capital
The amount of outstanding commitments for capital expenditure contracted for
but not provided for in the consolidated balance sheet 7,422 1153
The amount of capital expenditure authonsed in addition to the above commitments - —
{b) Operating leases
The annua! commitment under a nen-cancellable operating lease 1s as follows
Operating leases for land and buldings which expire in over five years - —
29 Related party transactions
2007 2008
Company £000 £000
Shares
At cost 19,833 9733

The shares n the subsidiary undertakings are stated at cost

The Group has a related party relatonship with its subsidiaries and 11s directors Transactions between the Group companies,
which are related parties, have been eliminated on consolidatton and are not disclosed in this note Transactions between the
Company and its subsidiaries are disclosed below In addition, the remuneration of the key management personnel {including
directors) of the Group are disclosed in aggregate below and are provided in detall in the audited part of the Directors’
Remuneration Report

The Company undertakes the following transactions with its active subsidianes

B Providing day-to-day funding, and
B Recewing annual dwvidends totalling £42 Om {2006 £27 Om)

There have been no matenal related party transactions with directors
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29 Related party transactions (continued)

Remuneration and key management personnel

The remuneration of the key management personnel {including directors) of the Group, 1s set out below in aggregate for
each of the categones specified in IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures Further information about the remuneration of individual
directors I1s provided In the audited part of the Drectors” Remuneration Report on pages 26 to 29

2007 2006
Company £000 £000
Short-term employee benefit 1.275 1,210
Termination benefits 235 —
Post-employment benefits 131 123
Share-based payment 44 40

1,685 1,373

30 Subsidiary undertakings

31

A & J Mucklow Group plc the ultimate Parent Company, 15 a public hmited company registered in England and Wales,
domuciled in the United Kingdom The Company s registered office 1s 60 Whitehall Road, Halesowen, West Midlands,
B63 3JS The Company 1s the holding company for the Group

A & J Mucklow Group plc has the following whaolly owned principal subsidiary undertakings All were registered and operated
in England and Wales

Property investment and devetopment
Barr's Industrial Limited

A & J Mucklow (Birmingham} Limited

A & J Mucklow (Halesowen} Limited

A & J Mucklow {Investments) Limited

A & J Mucklow (Properties} Limited
Penbrick Limited

Trading
A & J Mucklow & Co Lirmited

Post-balance sheet events
Since the year end the Group has acquired a 48 000 sq ft industrial iInvestment in Leamington Spa for £3 7m and realised
£2 8m from the disposal of land held as trading properties
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IFRS UK GAAP

2007 2006 2006 2004 2003

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Revenue
Gross rental Income 14,285 14,351 16,045 17,893 20394
Net rental iIncome 13,537 13,610 15,708 17,536 20,028
Qther income 10,158 2,254 1,162 3,659 1,176
Profit on disposal of
investment properties 2,247 707 1,096 1,627 12
Operating profit 39,268 37.909 27,362 19,142 19,471
Profit before taxation 33,369 36,434 9,444 13,880 10,328
Caprtal
Net assets 259,292 215672 193,134 202,567 182,631
Property portfolic 288,077 258 557 228,045 238,723 271,580
Per Ordinary Share
Earnings 86 62p 45 24p 168 68p 2056p 14 O0p
Net dividend* 14 73p 1371p 12 76p 1188p 11 06p
Net asset valuet 432p 360p 322p 338p 304p

* Representing interim paid and final proposed dividend for the year

t Excludes surplus on land held as trading properties

The financial iInformation shown in the above table has been prepared under UK GAAP for the financial years ended 30 June 2003
and 2004, and under IFRS for the financial years ended 30 June 2005, 2006 and 2007 For this reason, the information i1s not

directly comparable over time
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Annugl General Meeting

Results announced
For the half year to 31 December 2007
For the year to 30 June 2008

Ordinary dividends

Finat for 2006/2007 — announce
— pay

Interim for 2007/2008 — announce

— pay

13 November 2007

February 2008
September 2008

5 September 2007
31 December 2007
February 2008
June 2008
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